
Date Published: 8 March 2021     

Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 16 March 2021 at 10.00 am

Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 6) Andrea Clarke

4  Public Questions 

To answer any written questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the Board.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 10.00am on 9 March 
2021. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the 
attention of Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chair

5  Members' Questions 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Board. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 9 March 2021. Please send questions to the Chief 
Executive marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chair

6  White Paper: Integration and Innovation: working together to improve 
health and social care for all (Pages 7 - 14)

The Board to receive a presentation. 

Mary Hutton

7  Director of Public Health Annual Report: Beyond COVID - Race Health 
and Inequality in Gloucestershire (Pages 15 - 48)

Sarah Scott

8  Health Inequalities in Gloucestershire - COVID-19 and Beyond (Pages 
49 - 62)

Sue Weaver

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

9  Funding Update 

The Board to receive a verbal update.

Cllr Carole 
Allaway Martin

10  Kings Fund Healthier Communities (Pages 63 - 68)

The Board to receive a presentation. 

Mary Hutton

Membership – Mark Astle (Representing Chief Fire Officer), DPCC Chris Brierley (Representing 
Police and Crime Commissioner), Anne Brinkhoff (Gloucester City Council), Keith Gerrard (Stroud 
District Council), Mary Hutton (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), ACC Rhiannon Kirk 
(Representing the Chief Constable), Darren Knight (Cheltenham Borough Council), Deborah Lee 
(Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), David Owen (GFirstLEP), Rachel Pearce (NHS 
England), Dr Teresa Pietroni (Primary Care), Angela Potter (Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust), Nikki Richardson (Healthwatch Gloucestershire), Sarah Scott (Executive 
Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health), Dr Andy Seymour (Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group), Chris Spencer (Director of Children's Services), Peter Tonge (Tewkesbury 
Borough Council), Rob Weaver (Cotswold District Council) and Peter Williams (Forest of Dean 
District Council) Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Carole Allaway Martin (Chair) and 
Cllr Kathy Williams

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday 22 
September 2020 at the Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting.

PRESENT:
DPCC Chris Brierley
Christine Gore
Cllr Tim Harman
Mary Hutton
Deborah Lee
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin 
(Chair)

David Owen
Nikki Richardson
Sarah Scott
Dr Andy Seymour (Vice-Chair)
Rob Weaver
Peter Williams

Substitutes: Jon McGinty (In place of Anne Brinkhoff)
Eddie O'Neill (In place of Angela Potter)
Gavin Roberts (In place of Mark Astle)

Officers in attendance: Andy Dempsey - Director of Partnerships and Strategy 
Gloucestershire County Council
Jennifer Taylor - Lead Commissioner for Public Health

Apologies: Dr Teresa Pietroni, Chris Spencer, Margaret Willcox OBE and Cllr Kathy Williams

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received.

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 21 July were agreed as a correct record.

3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
No public questions were received.

4. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
No member’s questions were received.

5. COVID-19 UPDATE 
The Director of Public Health (DPH) updated the Board on the current position with regard 
to the number of cases and current position of the R number, nationally and locally. (The 
presentation slides were uploaded to the council’s website and included in the minute 
book.)

6. PRIORITY: PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 
6.1 The Clinical Chair, Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG), presented the 

report and highlighted that the Gloucestershire Moves programme had evolved into the ‘We 
Can Move’ partnership approach (https://wecanmove.net/). Physical activity was now even 
more important given the Covid-19 pandemic and the understanding around the potential 
impact of being obese on a person’s recovery. 

6.2 It was explained that ‘We can move’ has been co-funded by Sport England, the CCG, 
GCC, District Councils and other partners as part of a three year test and learn pilot. The 
current funding end would in March 2021; a business case for a continuation of funding 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

https://wecanmove.net/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

from partners was in the process of being written. Sport England has committed to continue 
their funding in their latest draft strategy, which would run until 2031.

6.3 The strategy was about to be published for consultation; the Chair encouraged Board 
members to engage with the consultation.

6.4 The Board supported the direction of travel for this priority area.

7. PRIORITY: ACES AND RESILIENCE 
7.1 The Director of Public Health (DPH) presented the report. This work had been taken 

forward using the concept of viral change. ACEs Panel meetings had been suspended due 
to the pandemic but were restarting this week. 

7.2 The DPH emphasised that much of this work had been taken forward on a shoestring 
budget; going forward it would need to be properly resourced. This was particularly 
important given that the funding for the ACEs post at the council was coming to an end.

7.3 Board members acknowledged that funding challenges were relevant to all priority areas 
discussed today. It was also noted that there were things that could still be done despite 
the financial position, eg. championing ACEs in organisations. 

7.4 In considering the recommendations in the report Board members agreed: -
 To champion ACEs
 To support and embed trauma informed practice within their own organisation
 To use the learning from the ACEs work to inform the individual organisations 

recovery plans and thus further embed the vision, values and behaviours.

7.5 Given that resources, particularly financial resources, would be a factor for all priority areas 
Board members agreed that they could not fully support the recommendation to ‘Provide 
resource to continue and extend the scope of our work’; but that a wider discussion was 
required to identify how to address resource issues across all priority areas. However, 
Board members fully supported the direction of travel of this work.

8. PRIORITY: HEALTHY LIFESTYLES 
8.1 The DPH updated the Board on the work in support of this activity. It would be important to 

take forward the learning from the national whole systems obesity programme to develop a 
whole systems approach in Gloucestershire. It was noted that this was being discussed 
with Cabinet. There was anecdotal evidence that children had returned to school having 
put on weight during lockdown. As previously discussed the impact of obesity on an 
individual’s ability to recover from Covid-19 was clear. 

8.2 The importance of communicating clear messages to the general public was discussed. It 
was explained that this work was being impacted by the need for officers to respond to the 
pandemic.

8.3 The Board agreed; -
 To note the progress to date and the delay caused by covid-19,
 To note the need for additional funding.

9. PRIORITY: MENTAL WELLBEING 
9.1 The Deputy Director of Strategy and Partnerships, Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 

Foundation Trust (GHC NHS FT), updated the Board on this priority. The Board was 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

informed that the Mental Health and Wellbeing Partnership Board oversaw the Mental 
Health Strategy Action Plan.

9.2 It was agreed that Covid-19 had emphasised the importance of good mental health and 
wellbeing. The pandemic had had an impact on the delivery of services; work on demand 
modelling was on-going. As with all the priorities this was a cross cutting issue.  

9.3 It was stated that it was important for all Board members to understand what their 
organisation, as an anchor institution, could do support mental health and wellbeing. The 
Board was informed that the Public Health Team had commissioned some helpful 
additional initiatives during lockdown. 

9.4 The Board agreed that it would continue to reflect on how it might further support joint 
working on mental health promotion and the interdependencies with the other Health and 
Wellbeing Board priorities.

10. PRIORITY: SOCIAL ISOLATION 
10.1 The Accountable Officer, GCCG, updated the Board. This work had been significantly 

impacted by the pandemic, and how people experience social isolation. Enabling Active 
Communities (EAC) met in August to review the deep dive undertaken in 2019. A short 
lived task and finish group was established to take this work forward.

10.2 The Board agreed to support the task and finish group and receive its recommendations on 
next steps.

11. PRIORITY: EARLY YEARS / BEST START 
11.1 The Director of Partnerships and Strategy, Gloucestershire County Council, updated the 

Board on activity. The Board was informed that it was proposed to merge the Early 
Outcomes for Children Working Group and the Children Friendly Gloucestershire initiative 
into a single multi agency group. The Board agreed that this was a positive way forward 
and would enable a more strategic approach to this work. It was noted that the first task of 
the group would be to undertake a stocktake of the current position. 

11.2 It was also noted that a detailed needs assessment of children’s needs had been 
undertaken a year ago; this would need to be reviewed within the context of Covid-19.

12. PRIORITY: HOUSING 
12.1 The Lead Commissioner for Public Health updated the Board on activity with regard to this 

priority. As with all priorities Covid-19 had impacted on this work. It was noted that the 
Planning For the Future White paper could have a significant impact on this area of work.

12.2 Detailed work was needed to get a greater understanding of the current level, and type of, 
private sector housing. 

12.3 The Board agreed: -
 To note the progress on the Housing and Health priority of the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy and agree support for its continuation as set out in this paper,
 To commit to supporting the planned actions emerging from the Health Foundation 

programme to improve housing conditions, including joining up of data and 
intelligence and development of a proposal for potential future investment,

 To support work to ‘change the conversation’ with developers seeking to build in the 
county,

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

 To champion this agenda and add value to planned activity by setting ambitious 
expectations for healthy places.

13. COVID-19 RESET AND ANCHOR INSTITUTIONS - WORKING GROUP UPDATE 
13.1 The Lead Commissioner for Public Health informed the Board that the working group had 

identified three main areas to focus on – employment and training, maximising social value 
and local leadership.  A report would be presented to the Board once this work has 
progressed. 

13.2 Some good work was already in place, with opportunities and support to staff to enable 
them to progress through organisations. 

13.3 It would be important to have an inclusive employer approach across the board; 
demonstrating how to lead by example. It would be important to ensure that social value 
was not just an add on but was rather embedded in practice. This was an opportunity to set 
out a framework and set of principles. 

13.4 The National Colour of Power Index 2020 clearly demonstrated the challenge identifying 
that just 52 out of the 1099 most powerful roles in the country were filled by non-white 
individuals; just 4.7% of the total number compared to the 13% proportion of the UK 
population (https://thecolourofpower.com/). 

13.5 The Board was also informed that the Health Inequality framework was in development and 
would be brought to Board in due course. 

13.6 The Board welcomed this work and looked forward to receiving an update.

14. CHILD FRIENDLY GLOUCESTERSHIRE UPDATE 
14.1 The Director of Partnerships and Strategy updated the Board. They explained that although 

the county council was the statutory lead on children’s services it had been agreed that 
Dame Janet Trotter DBE CBE CVO would lead on this programme of work.

14.2 It was clear that it would need senior representation from across all partners in order to 
drive this work forward at pace. 

14.3 Dame Janet Trotter informed the Board that it wold be important to ensure that children and 
young people saw that their experience and views were at the centre of this work – this 
was not currently the case. This would be challenging to achieve.

14.4 The Director informed members that the Director of Children’s Services had identified some 
resources to support this work through the Future Me programme. 

14.5 The Board agreed: -
 To establish the Child Friendly Coalition/Strategic Group in accordance with the 

Terms of Reference set out at Appendix of the report, and,
 To agree the 3 priority areas identified in the report as the basis for the year 1 

action plan. These were Pre-birth to 5 years activity, Transition to employment and 
Further Education, and Children and Young People’s mental health.

CHAIRMAN
Meeting concluded at 11.47 am

Page 4

https://thecolourofpower.com/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Health & Wellbeing Board  

28th March 2021 

Integration and Innovation 
Working together to improve health  

and social care for all 
 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 6



Publication of “Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health 
and social care for all” white paper by DHSC follows the NHSE/I Board paper 
setting out the following aims for future legislation:  
 
• Stronger partnerships in local places between the NHS, local government 

and others with a more central role for primary care in providing joined-up 
care;  

• Provider organisations being asked to step forward in formal collaborative 
arrangements that allow them to operate at scale; and  

• Developing strategic commissioning through systems with a focus on 
population health outcomes; 

• The use of digital and data to drive system working, connect health and care 
providers, improve outcomes and put the citizen at the heart of their own 
care.  
 
 

 

Integrated Care Systems Legislation  

P
age 8



Proposals are designed to serve four fundamental purposes: 
• Improving population health and healthcare;  
• Tackling unequal outcomes and access; 
• Enhancing productivity and value for money; and 
• Helping the NHS to support broader social and economic development 

 
The vision reflects three observations derived from the Long Term Plan:  
• Decisions taken closer to the communities lead to better outcomes; 
• Collaboration between partners in a place can overcome competing 

objectives 
• Collaboration between providers is likely to be more effective than 

competition 
 

 
 

 

Integrated Care Systems Legislation 

P
age 9



ICS Structure 

4 

Minimum requirement for Membership of Board: 
• ICS Chair 
• ICS Chief Exec / Accounting Officer 
• Representatives of NHS Trusts and General Practice 
• Others determined locally  
• Appropriate clinical advice   

P
age 10



System Design Principles: 
We have begun to development system design  
principles to underpin our approach  

5 

• Our population and staff are at the heart of all we do  

• Form needs to follow function and outcomes 

• We will deliver through collaboration  

• Build on our successes and learning from our failures 

• Governance must facilitate agile decisions, and continue to evolve, aim is not to 
design a ‘final state’ but recognise this is a journey / dynamic 

• Keep and value the ‘grit’ that commissioning can bring to our system  

• Population outcomes driving transformation underpinned by population health 
management and consolidated data 

• Focus on doing once, removing duplication and delivering best value 

• Delegate where possible whilst maintaining 

– appropriate scale and pools of expertise where disaggregation is not possible  

– strong clinical and lay / public participation  

– common standards and frameworks where important to outcomes 

 

 

 

 

P
age 11



Building on successes & learning: 
Evolving from our current position 

• Maintain and build on relationships between Health & Social Care partners 

• Important to promote the successes of our system model externally 

• Maintain and promote freedom to innovate 

• Developing narrative to promote value of smaller / deeper model of ICS 
working: 

– Practical learning e.g. Agile decision making  

– Clinical Programmes / Programme budgeting  

• Learning from rapid achievement (add more examples)  

– Virtual ward  

– Vaccination centre  

• The learning from our successes should inform our model for future ways of 
working  

• Building on trusted relationships and continuing to include all those who are 
influencing the wider determinants of health recognising the importance of 
the VCSE, housing, education, children’s services etc.  

6 

P
age 12



Developing Subsidiarity:  

• What needs to be done 

– at Gloucestershire level 

– Partner collaboration 

– closer to local communities 

• PCNs, developing nature of neighbourhoods  

• Consider level of administrative resources  that should be allocated at the 
levels 

• Data analysis at place level  

• Balancing of opportunities at place with benefits of pathway working at 
system scale 

7 

P
age 13



Next steps 

• ICS Board, acting as the sponsor group,  to develop implementation plan 
aligned to system design principles outlined  

• One Gloucestershire to act as a test system with 8 other systems and the 
national team to test concepts and guidelines 

• South West system leaders nominated to lead development in a range of 
areas to support South West approach where desirable 

• Review resource requirements to ensure sufficient support in place 

• Agile review of emerging policy and guidance  

• To begin the mapping of transition plan 

 

8 

P
age 14



BEYOND COVID:
RACE, HEALTH AND INEQUALITY IN 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE

Report of the Director of Public Health 2020

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 7



CONTENTS
 Forewords

01 BAME Communities: Health inequalities and Covid-19 

02 Root causes of Health and Wellbeing

03 The impact of Covid-19 on Gloucestershire’s BAME residents 

04 Response - Community resilience 

05 Response - Workplace health and wellbeing 

06 Prevention - Covid-19 and communication

07 Prevention - Covid-19 and pre-existing conditions

08 Recovery - Becoming a culturally competent organisation

09 Recovery - Co-operation and co-production

10 Beyond Covid-19 in Gloucestershire

pg 03

pg 05

pg 07

pg 10

pg 12

pg 15

pg 18

pg 20

pg 22

pg 26

pg 28

pg 29

pg 30

pg 30

pg 31

pg 32

Appendix A: Gloucestershire’s population and health indicators

Appendix B: Public Health England recommendations

Appendix C: The Race at Work Charter

Appendix D: Progress Report from the 2018/19 Annual Report

References

02REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

P
age 16



We will all remember 2020. The COVID-19 
pandemic has affected all areas of society 
and our physical and mental wellbeing, 
sometimes for the better but often for the 
worse. We quickly saw evidence emerging of 
a disproportionate impact on different parts 
of society; for example, older people, men and 
some geographic areas. 

But by far the biggest impact was seen in people 
from Black, Asian and minority ethnic backgrounds. 
Sadly, we have seen a higher number of COVID-19 
cases, deaths, hospitalisations and complications 
in members of these communities. Black and 
Asian people were between 2.5 and 3 times more 
likely to be admitted to hospitals in the county with 
COVID-19 than White people of the same age 
(Gloucestershire NHS Hospitals Foundation Trust).

This is my fifth annual report as the Director of 
Public Health for Gloucestershire and it was an 
obvious choice to focus this year on the impact 
of COVID-19 on BAME communities. My annual 
report provides a unique opportunity to shine a light 
on important issues affecting our local population 
and make recommendations for improvement. I am 
really thrilled that Gloucestershire County Council’s 
Black Workers Network has agreed to co-author 
the report. The Black Workers Network has led the 
development of the recommendations and sourced 
a lot of the case studies.

One of the main drivers of the work of the 
Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities team 
within Gloucestershire County Council is tackling 
inequalities in health. These are persistent, 
avoidable and unjust differences in health across 
and between different groups in a population. We 
ensure our services are commissioned to reduce 
inequalities and work with partners across the 
county to improve health outcomes for all but with 
a focus on those experiencing the worst health 
outcomes.

This report draws heavily on the research by Public 
Health England into the impact of COVID-19 on 
BAME communities. We have structured the report 
around the main themes identified in the research 
and added further context by drawing upon local 
case studies that both illustrate the presence of 
inequalities in our county but that also demonstrate 
the strength in our communities. We will share 
stories that illustrate the desire in our communities 
to help each other during an unprecedented time.

The preparation of this annual report is a team 
effort and Althia and I would like to thank those 
who contributed to its design, drafting and content 
this year: Maria Arthurs-Hartnett, Zoe Clifford, 
the Black Workers Network, Bilkis Bhula, Temi 
Folayan, Claudia Parry, Jennifer Taylor and 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Design Team.

My thanks also go to those who have shared  
their experiences and good practice: 

 - Joe Green, Hannah and Anwar,  
Rebecca Ajulu-Bushell, Carol Sterling,  
Abbas Veshmia, Imran Atcha,  
Khady Gueye, Tracy Marshall,  
Hannah Gorf, Hannah Deacon,  
Joanne Bourne-Jones, Paul Roberts, 
Katherine Martin, Suzie Compton,  
Kirsty Dunleavy and Sarah Williams.

I hope this annual report prompts you to think 
more about the inequalities and particularly those 
affecting our BAME communities and what you can 
do to address this. If you would like to continue 
the conversation, please get in touch by email: 
sarah.l.scott@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

SARAH SCOTT,  
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
September 2020

FOREWORDS
BEYOND COVID:  
RACE, HEALTH AND INEQUALITY IN 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE

03REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

P
age 17



We remain committed to working in partnership 
with colleagues across the system to improve 
the lived experience of BAME communities in 
Gloucestershire.

ALTHIA LYN,  
CO-CHAIR OF THE BLACK WORKERS 
NETWORK  
September 2020

As we look back on 2020, many of us will 
be reminded of two significant moments in 
history that drastically changed the world we 
live in. The COVID-19 pandemic changed our 
way of working, living and connecting with 
colleagues, family and community. It placed 
unprecedented pressure on health and social 
care and other essential services, and many 
experienced the loss of loved ones, friends 
and colleagues. Whilst many of us were able 
to work from home, BAME communities, who 
are over represented in key worker roles, 
were disproportionately out on the frontline, 
despite knowing the increased risks that they 
were exposed to. 

At the same time, the killing of George Floyd in 
May and the resurgence of the Black Lives Matter 
movement ignited a new conversation around 
structural racism and its impact on communities of 
colour. This and the pandemic have shone a light 
on the stark reality and lived experience of BAME 
individuals and communities here in Gloucestershire, 
the UK and globally.

The transatlantic slave trade ended over 200 
years ago and race equality legislation has been 
introduced in an attempt to level the playing field. 
However, for BAME communities the legacy 
of slavery and colonialism lives on in the very 
institutions that they rely on for health, social 
care, education, employment, criminal justice and 
housing, and they continue to be disproportionately 
impacted as a result (Cabinet Office, 2018). 

At its worst, government policy reinforces the 
negative stereotypes that are held of people of 
colour, their needs and aspirations, and impacts on 
local decision making. The Windrush scandal and 
Grenfell fire are just two examples of how this has 
played out in reality. 

BAME communities are often defined as hard to 
reach by those responsible for commissioning and 
delivering services. Conversely, this is regarded in 
BAME communities as an excuse to overlook and 
marginalise their needs and is a contributor to the 
institutionalised racism that they experience daily. 

This report highlights some examples of good 
practice, for example, the listening event for BAME 
carers (section 9). However, we have a long way to 
go before we get to ‘what good looks like’ for BAME 
communities and individuals. 

The BAME voluntary and community sector has 
contracted significantly over the last 10 years as 
a result of austerity. The loss of its infrastructure 
organisation Linking Communities and the Local 
Race Equality Council mean that most no longer 
have the capacity to apply for long-term funding 
to make them sustainable. Yet these communities 
contain diverse, skilled and committed individuals 
who have much to offer to make Gloucestershire  
a better place to live, work and grow for all  
of its citizens.

Black History Month is celebrated annually 
in the UK during October. Its theme this year 
is Let’s End Racism. Now is the time to have 
conversations about race. These conversations 
are vitally important for us to have, no matter how 
uncomfortable, if we are serious about changing the 
lived experience of BAME people in Gloucestershire. 
Whilst this report does not hold all the answers, it 
aims to open a conversation about the issues and 
solutions which must continue.

As we face the second wave and look forward 
to recovery planning we must ensure that BAME 
communities and employees remain at the heart of 
the conversation and are able to guide the narrative. 
The council’s Black Workers Network welcomes 
the opportunity to co-author this report and thanks 
colleagues in Public Health for making it happen. 

04REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

P
age 18



BAME COMMUNITIES: 
HEALTH INEQUALITIES  
AND COVID-19

01

Though the underlying issues are not 
new, the moral duty to take action 
has never been greater. The strength 
of feeling in the wake of George 
Floyd’s death demonstrates the hurt 
felt by many in this country that these 
inequalities are not meaningfully 
tackled and have left BAME people 
overexposed and under-protected 
during a global pandemic. 

Conversely, the crisis has brought 
out some of the best of humanity. 
Communities have come together 
and we have all played our roles in 
supporting one another. Individuals 
and voluntary groups have made 
and delivered food, shopped and 
collected prescriptions for those who 
were shielding, hosted online prayer 
groups, sewing groups, book groups, 
called in on neighbours and walked 
their dogs. 

We have found that there is a lot of 
strength and resilience in our diverse 
communities. 

Working together in partnership, 
listening, and using these strengths 
will be key to tackling the systemic 
and structural issues this report 
highlights.

The recent Black Lives 
Matter protests and 
COVID-19 pandemic 
have shone a spotlight 
on the widespread 
structural inequalities 
faced by Black, Asian 
and minority ethnic 
(BAME*) people. The 
Health Foundation 
(2020) questions if this 
could be a watershed 
moment for health 
inequalities. Converting 
this awareness into 
long-term, sustainable 
change will require 
commitment, resources 
and partnerships 
beyond the attention of 
the news cycle.

* We acknowledge that the use of the term ‘BAME’ is not ideal and conflates together very diverse groups of people. 
It is used in this report as it allows us to make best use of existing research and captures the range of groups that are 
affected by structural racism. Where available, we have separated data on different ethnic groups.

05

DELIVERING INCLUSIVE GROWTH IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

P
age 19



BAME COMMUNITIES, HEALTH INEQUALITIES AND COVID-19

INEQUALITIES PRE-COVID

The pandemic has highlighted 
longstanding health inequalities which 
already existed in our society. Health 
inequalities are the ‘avoidable and unfair 
differences in people’s health across 
different population groups’ which are 
a result of social inequalities ‘in the 
conditions in which people are born, grow, 
live, work and age’ (Marmot, 2010). 

These inequalities are influenced by 
differences and biases in the access, 
quality and experience of care and the 

‘wider determinants of health’ or root 
causes, such as housing, education and 
employment. There are many overlapping 
factors which can lead to health 
inequalities and people are often affected 
by more than one (Figure 1).

The government’s recent Race Disparity 
Audit found that people from BAME 
backgrounds continue to experience 
discrimination and inequality in education, 
employment, housing, pay and living 
standards, health, and the criminal justice 
system (Cabinet Office, 2018).

Figure 1. Overlapping dimensions of health inequalities (LGA, 2020)

OVERLAPPING DIMENSIONS OF 
HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

Gloucestershire contains a huge diversity 
of cultures, languages, communities, 
abilities and experiences. Though far from 
a homogenous group, the structures and 
biases within our society mean that these 
inequalities based on race, nationality 
and cultural heritage are a daily reality for 
many in our county. 

• 27,337 BAME residents in 
Gloucestershire

• BAME adults aged 25-49 are more 
likely to be unemployed than White 
British adults of the same age. For 
Black people, the rate is more than 
double. 

• Amongst those aged 65 and over, 
Asian people and Black people 
were more likely than people from 
other ethnic backgrounds to have a 
long-term limiting illness and to be in 
poor health (Gloucestershire County 
Council, 2020). 

THE IMPACT OF THE PANDEMIC

Though COVID-19 was initially viewed 
as a social leveller, pandemics rarely 
affect all populations in the same way. A 
Public Health England (PHE) review into 
differences in the risk and outcomes from 
COVID-19, published in June 2020, found 
that mortality rates in the most deprived 
areas were more than double the least 
deprived areas. Belonging to certain 
ethnic groups increases the likelihood of 
contracting COVID-19, developing severe 
symptoms, and dying from the virus. 

Even after accounting for the effect of 
sex, age, deprivation and region, people 
of Bangladeshi ethnicity had around 
twice the risk of death than people of 
White British ethnicity. People of Chinese, 
Indian, Pakistani, Other Asian, Caribbean 
and Other Black ethnicity had between 
10% and 50% higher risk of death when 
compared to White British (PHE, 2020). 

This does not take account of occupation, 
comorbidities (pre-existing health 
conditions) or obesity which may explain 
some of the disparity. However, a higher 
rate of obesity, comorbidities, and 
exposure through high-risk occupations 
among the most deprived and BAME 
populations is itself a significant health 
inequality issue.

Furthermore, the negative impacts of 
lockdown and social distancing measures 
to control the spread of COVID-19 have 
been felt disproportionately by those 
already experiencing inequality. The social 
and economic impact of the virus and 
lockdown measures has exposed people 
on low incomes and those living with other 
vulnerabilities to an even greater risk of 
physical and mental ill-health.

THE CASE FOR CHANGE

In June, Public Health England published 
a follow-up paper, ‘Beyond the data: 
Understanding the impact of COVID-19 
on BAME groups’ (PHE, 2020). This 
combined a review of the available data 
with feedback sessions involving over 
4,000 people with a broad range of 
interests in BAME group issues. The 
paper makes seven recommendations to 
address BAME health inequalities, both 
in the short-term to mitigate the impact of 
future waves of COVID-19, and for long-
term sustainable change. 

This report makes the case for change 
for and with our BAME residents in 
Gloucestershire. Evidence, data and 
a range of lived experience has been 
brought together to show how these 
inequalities manifest in our county. It also 
draws attention to and celebrates the 
invaluable contributions made to the local 
pandemic effort by BAME organisations, 
individuals and volunteers. This informs 
local recommendations to act as a 
starting point for tackling race-based 
health inequalities in Gloucestershire.

Socio-economic 
groups and 
deprivation

e.g. unemployed, low 
income, deprived areas

Inclusion health and 
vulnerable groups

e.g. homeless people, 
gypsies, roma and travellers, 
sex workers, vulnerable 
migrants, people who leave 
prison

Protective characteristics 
in the equality duty

e.g. age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, sexual 
orientation

Geography

e.g. urban, rural, coastal

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 06

P
age 20



02
The circumstances in which we live, 
from the experiences of our early years 
to our working conditions, housing, 
education and support from local 
communities throughout our life, shape 
our health outcomes. These social, 
economic and structural determinants 
of health, often referred to as the 
wider determinants of health, can be 
described as the ‘root causes’ of ill 
health and inequality. The Dahlgren 
and Whitehead model (Figure. 2) 
shows the range of factors that impact 
on our health and wellbeing. These 
root causes are all associated with 
race and deprivation. Understanding 
the differences between BAME 
groups, compared to the general 
population in Gloucestershire, helps 
us to understand the driving force for 
health inequalities.

Underpinning this is the experience of 
discrimination. Structural, institutional 
and interpersonal forms of racism 
together shape the experiences of 
minority ethnic groups and contribute 
to the persistent differences in health 
and wellbeing that BAME people face. 

The stakeholders engaged in the PHE 
study noted that these inequalities 
existed before the COVID-19 
pandemic and that the virus both 
exacerbated and drew attention to 
them. As such, taking a system-
wide approach to tackling the long-
standing root causes of inequality will 
be particularly important if we are to 
prevent future harm.

Inequalities in health 
status and disease 
risk are associated 
with minority ethnic 
status; those in 
minority ethnic groups 
have poorer health 
outcomes compared 
to the majority of the 
population. Differences 
in cultural factors may 
play a role in disease 
risk, but it is more likely 
that the decreases in life 
expectancy and health 
outcomes are due to 
social, economic, and 
structural determinants 
of health.

(PHE, 2020)

ROOT CAUSES OF  
HEALTH AND WELLBEING

G
en

er
al

 s
oc

io-
ec

onomic, cultural and environmental conditions

So
ci

al

 and community networks

In
di

vid
ual lifestyle factors

Health care 
services

Water and 
sanitisation

Unemployment

Living and 
working 

conditions

Work

Education

Agriculture 
and food 

production

Age, sex, and 
constitutional 

factors Housing

Figure 2. The Dahlgren and Whitehead model (1993)

07REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

ROOT CAUSES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING

P
age 21



My family moved to the 
Cotswolds in 2012. I have 
travelled and lived in 
other places since, but this 
is home and the place I 
always come back to.

There is a stark contrast 
between the large 
Cotswolds stone houses 
and sprawling housing 
estates and no real 
mixing between these 
demographics. This is very 
visible in Bourton-on-the-
Water.

Rebecca Ajulu-Bushell,  
Bourton-on-the-Water

In my family, we have had long-standing 
dealings with mental health challenges and 
have always been impressed by the mental 
health facilities we have been able to 
access in the Cotswolds. This is possible 
because we have more than one car and 
don’t have to rely on public transport. 
Additionally, we have the knowledge, 

money, and the time to access these 
services. This is not afforded to everyone. 

Mental health care in rural areas is about 
the isolation and dissipating sense of 
community, even more strongly felt by 
the BAME community in these areas. I’m 
half Kenyan but I’ve grown up in such a 
white world so it still affects me to see so 
many people of colour in the same place 
when I’m in London. This crisis of isolation 
is unique to rural areas and the BAME 
experience in Gloucestershire.

What is it like living and working as a Black person  
in the Cotswolds?

There are many interrelated determinants 
of health. This report highlights three 
key areas, which are particularly relevant 
in the context of COVID-19 and BAME 
communities:

• Education and training
• Housing
• Employment

EDUCATION

In Gloucestershire, there are significant 
gaps in academic attainment by ethnic 
group. From Key Stage 2 (ages 7-11) 
onwards, Chinese and Asian pupils are 
the best performing groups, with Black 
pupils producing the poorest results in six 
of the seven academic measures assessed 
throughout their education. The previous 
two Director of Public Health reports outline 
how school readiness and early educational 
attainment are incredibly important to 
someone’s longer term outcomes, in 
work and in their lifelong health and 
wellbeing. Getting the early years right and 
enabling social mobility is one of the best 
preventative actions we can take.

In six of the seven key academic 
measures, Black pupils in Gloucestershire 
perform below the average for Black pupils 
in England. Figure 6 shows the downturn 
in Black pupils’ performance, compared to 
other ethnic groups in Gloucestershire, as 
they progress through the different stages 
of their education.

Unless action is taken, school closures 
during lockdown will widen this gap even 
further. Nationally, pupils are on average 
three months behind on their learning 
as a result of the COVID-19 crisis, with 
the most deprived pupils and those 
from BAME backgrounds most likely to 
be affected, according to the National 
Foundation for Educational Research 
(NFER, 2020). 

Narrowing this gap should be a key 
priority for Gloucestershire partners 
if we are to ensure that the long term 
outcomes for our Black pupils are the 
best they can be. It is also a vital step 
is maximising career development 
and progression opportunities that 
enable social mobility.

Figure 3. Gloucestershire attainment by ethnic group1

1KS2 Combined Expected - pupils achieving at least the expected standard in reading, writing and maths in Key Stage 2.
Attainment 8 - measures the average achievement of pupils in up to 8 qualifications at the end of KS4 (age 15-16).
Eng Bacc – English Baccalaureate is a set of subjects which pupils can take at GCSE.

Foundation
Good

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e

0

10

20

40

60

30

50

70

80

90

100

KS2 Combined 
Expected

GCSE Eng & 
Maths Stage

Attainment 
8

Eng
Bacc

AsianGloucestershire overall Black pupils Chinese pupils

08

ROOT CAUSES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

P
age 22



HOUSING

There is no peer-reviewed evidence that 
directly correlates housing to COVID-19 
outcomes but the PHE stakeholder report 
argues that the risks associated with 
COVID-19 transmission, morbidity, and 
mortality can be exacerbated by the housing 
challenges faced by some members of BAME 
groups. These include:

• Overcrowding

• Intergenerational households

• Housing insecurity.

Households in Gloucestershire headed by 
people from ‘other White’, mixed, Asian, 
Black and ‘other’ ethnic backgrounds were 
all more likely than households headed by 
people from White British backgrounds 
to have fewer bedrooms than required. 
People from White British and White Irish 
backgrounds were less likely than other ethnic 
groups to be living in private rented housing 
(Gloucestershire County Council, 2020). This 
suggests that the key housing challenges 
may be experienced by BAME communities 
in Gloucestershire, potentially contributing to 
the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on 
these groups.

EMPLOYMENT

Whilst we often think of unemployment 
and low income as the key driver of health 
inequalities, in the case of COVID-19 
and BAME communities, the nature of 
employment is a particularly important factor. 
People from BAME groups are significantly 
over-represented in the health and care 
workforce in England. 

It is not possible for these and other key 
worker roles (such as food distribution, retail 
and cleaning) to be undertaken from home 
and so these frontline workers have greater 
exposure to COVID-19.

Other factors may play a part in this 
disproportionate risk, such as the use of 
public transport to travel to work and insecure 
employment, meaning that an employee is 
less likely to take time off sick with COVID-19 
symptoms.

A key factor in making this happen is 
leadership and representation at a senior level. 
This is a pattern repeated across industries. 
Signing the Race at Work Charter (Appendix 
C) is one tangible measure that organisations 
can take to amplify their commitment to race 
equality and diversity. The charter outlines five 
key actions organisations can take to tackle 
these issues. 

• In Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 14.1% of staff are 
from a BAME background and of these, 
15.7% are occupied in clinical roles, with 
the highest representation in medical, 
dental, nursing and midwifery.

• BAME people make up 31% of band 
1 non-clinical roles, such as cleaners, 
drivers and catering staff. There are no 
BAME employees in the top 5 clinical 
bands. (GHNHSFT, 2019)

• 100% of Gloucestershire’s MPs are 
White and less than 2% of county and 
district councillors are from a BAME 
background.

• 1 female BAME police officer in 
Gloucestershire. There are no BAME 
police officers at Chief Inspector rank or 
higher. (Gloucestershire Constabulary, 
2015)

• 1.4% of FTSE 100 leaders in one of the 
top three positions (CEO, Chair and CFO) 
are black 

• There are no High Court Judges (out 
of 39), no Court of Appeal Judges (out 
of 30) and only one Deputy District 
magistrate (out of 80) of a black ethnic 
background

• 62% of the top 500 charities (by income) 
have all white boards

• < 1% of journalists are black (BITC, 2020) 

09

ROOT CAUSES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

P
age 23



03
THE IMPACT OF COVID-19  
ON GLOUCESTERSHIRE’S  BAME RESIDENTS

As described in this report so 
far, inequalities in the wider 
determinants of health between 
population groups have meant that 
people faced the pandemic from 
uneven starting points. This has 
been widely reported at a national 
level and local intelligence shows a 
similar picture in Gloucestershire. 

This section brings together evidence 
to try to understand how BAME 
residents have been impacted by 
COVID-19 and outlines the gaps in 
the available data. The pandemic has 
shown how important it is to have 
comprehensive equality data that 
includes faith and ethnicity. Moving 
forward, improving routine equality 
data collection and using it to inform 
our actions must be a priority.

The data only tells part of the 
story. Each statistic denotes real 
Gloucestershire families and people 
all facing their individual challenges, 
heartbreaks and recoveries. 
Understanding how this is experienced 
and how this might be different for 
different communities is essential. 

HANNAH AND ANWAR’S 
STORY

Hannah and Anwar* are a Muslim 
family of South Asian background, 
living in Gloucestershire. Anwar 
became seriously ill with COVID-19 

and had to stay in hospital for almost 
a month. Anwar is in his mid-50s and 
has no underlying health conditions.

A few days after lockdown began 
in late March Anwar experienced a 
temperature and was immediately 
concerned that he may have 
contracted COVID-19. He decided to 
isolate in his room to protect the rest of 
his family. After five days, Anwar woke 
up feeling better but by the evening 
he struggled to breathe and could not 
walk the few metres to the bathroom. 

Hannah contacted her GP who 
advised her to call an ambulance. 
Anwar was frightened of going to 
hospital and initially refused, partly due 
to the TV coverage. Hannah could not 
go with him due to the restrictions and 
found this very tough.

On Facetime the next day, Anwar 
indicated he was breathing a little 
better, though clearly frightened 
as some patients had sadly died 
overnight. However, later on Anwar 
was put on a ventilator as his oxygen 
levels were so low. 

On day 11, he successfully came 
off the ventilator but he was terrified 
of the staff in their PPE, especially 
as he had no memory of being put 
on the ventilator. He experienced 
hallucinations and was sometimes 
abusive, scared, emotional and tearful. 

The staff were wonderful at settling him 
and regularly called Hannah to help if 
things become challenging and she 
helped to put him at ease. The support 
of the Muslim staff was invaluable, 
including a cleaner in ICU and a nurse 
who prayed by Anwar’s bedside, set 
up qur’anic audio so that he could 
listen to verses and advised the nurses 
to give Anwar drops of ‘Zam Zam 
water’, which originates from a well 
in Mecca as Muslims believe it has 
healing properties. 

The family Facetimed him daily to 
remind him that they loved him and 
prayed for him. Although it was 
difficult not being able to see him, they 
understood the reasons. Thankfully, 
a couple of weeks later, he recovered 
enough to come home. 

Hannah would like to stress the 
importance of listening to advice, 
including on self isolating and 
quarantine, and give her thanks 
to NHS nurses and doctors who 
supported Anwar during this very 
challenging time. 

A strong belief in faith and support 
from family and community has helped 
them come through this and the 
second chance that Hannah feels they 
have been given encourages her to live 
in the present.

* Their names have been changed.

10REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON GLOUCESTERSHIRE’S BAME RESIDENTS

P
age 24



COVID-19 ETHNICITY DATA

Locally, data from the community and 
acute hospitals in Gloucestershire, found 
that Black and Asian people were between 
2.5 and 3 times more likely to be admitted 
to hospital with COVID-19 than White 
people of the same age.

In Gloucestershire, a multi-agency team 
are tasked with collecting intelligence to 
inform our emergency response. Ethnicity 
information is not always completed, which 
limits what we can draw from the data. 

The information we have suggests that 
Asian, Black, White Other, and other ethnic 
groups are overrepresented in positive 
COVID-19 cases compared to the county’s 
population at the time of the 2011 census. 

However, as 11.2% of cases have no 
ethnicity recorded, it is not possible to 
determine to what extent BAME and White 
Other groups are overrepresented. For 
contacts of cases, nothing definite about 
ethnicity can be concluded.

COMPREHENSIVE ETHNICITY 
DATA RECORDING

Collecting and using data and intelligence 
to inform action is a cornerstone of 
public health. Robust equalities data is 
necessary to identify the root cases of 
inequality, determine whether interventions 
are working, attribute any outcomes and 
prevent inequalities. 

We know that COVID-19 disproportionality 
affects BAME people, older people, those 
living in deprived areas and/or with pre-
existing conditions because researchers 
have been able to look at the data in a 
timely way and share their findings. As it 
has become so important, the pandemic 
has also highlighted gaps and much 
needed improvements to our routine data 
collection and recording. 

• Restore NHS services inclusively, 
so that they are used by those in 
greatest need. This will be guided by 
new, core performance monitoring 
of service use and outcomes among 
those from the most deprived 
neighbourhoods and from Black and 
Asian communities, by 31 October. 
Develop digitally enabled care 
pathways in ways which increase 
inclusion, including reviewing who is 
using new primary, outpatient and 
mental health digitally enabled care 
pathways by 31 March. 

• Ensure datasets are complete and 
timely, to underpin an understanding 
of and response to inequalities. All 
NHS organisations should proactively 
review and ensure the completeness 
of patient ethnicity data by no later 
than 31 December, with general 
practice prioritising those groups at 
significant risk of COVID-19 from  
1 September. (NHS England, 2020)

This is a significant and much needed 
change that other public services 
should also be aiming for. While 
acknowledging that collecting personal 
data is time-intensive and has to meet 
the requirements of legislation, there is a 
clear case for mandatory equalities data 
in directly provided and commissioned 
services. 

At the point of collection, the reasons 
for collecting the data and how it will be 
used need to be clear and the questions 
and options given should be inclusive 
as possible, using up-to-date terms 
and language. This is an important step 
to increase response rates by building 
confidence in marginalised groups who 
may not have had the best experiences 
with public services.

Death registration is a county council 
responsibility and currently ethnicity data is 
not recorded in the register nor collected 
as part of the confidential statistics at the 
time of registration of deaths. Personal 
data revealing racial or ethnic origin is 
considered sensitive and is subject to 
specific conditions under GDPR and 
associated legislation but where there is a 
clear justification for collecting and using 
personal data, it is possible to do so. 

Collecting ethnicity and faith data at the 
time of death registration would allow 
better analysis of causes of death and 
whether certain groups were more at risk.

As part of NHS England’s recovery plans, 
it has recommended that all local NHS 
organisations:

2The ONS produces best practice guidance on ethnicity recording: ons.gov.uk/methodology/classificationsandstandards/
measuringequality/ethnicgroupnationalidentityandreligion

Table 1. COVID-19 cases and contacts in Gloucestershire by ethnicity 

It makes me sad that 20+ 
years later in my career we 
are still talking about data 
being collected, which is 
the basics of science. Surely 
that has to be fixed forever 
going forward. Recording 
of ethnicity and occupation 
on death certificates has 
been an issue for too long 
– a change in legislation is 
urgently needed.

PHE, 2020

Contacts 
29/05/20-26/08/20

Cases 
26/02/20-25/08/20

Population 
2011

White British 55.1% 75.2% 91.6%

White Other (including Irish) 3.6% 4.7% 3.9%

Asian 2.2% 4.4% 2.1%

Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups 2.2% 0.9% 1.5%

Black/African/Caribbean/
Black British

0.0% 2.4% 0.9%

Any other ethnic group 0.0% 1.3% 0.2%

Unknown/Not recorded 36.9% 11.2% 0.0%

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 11

THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON GLOUCESTERSHIRE’S BAME RESIDENTS

P
age 25



04
As described in the previous section, 
the impact of COVID-19 has been 
greater in those communities already 
experiencing inequality. This has 
been the case even where individuals 
or families have not been directly 
affected by the virus itself. 

Whilst the impact has been negative 
for many, there is much to be proud 
of in the way that Gloucestershire 
residents have supported one 
another 

In March and April, our communities 
sprung into action to prevent further 
spread of COVID-19 and to support 
key workers, those who were 
shielding, home-schooling or were 
made redundant. Later, the Black 
Lives Matter movement brought into 
the public eye a generation of young 
Black Gloucestershire citizens who 
are pushing for positive change. 

There is a wealth of knowledge, 
experience and agency in our BAME 
communities and they have a huge 
role to play in making Gloucestershire 
a more prosperous, healthy and 
inclusive place to live. 

This section highlights some of 
the experiences and actions of our 
diverse communities over these past 
months and includes contributions 
from Imran Atcha from the Friendship 
Café, who has helped to support 

and feed local people, and Rebecca 
Ajulu-Bushell who has been involved 
in the Black Lives Matter movement 
in Gloucestershire.

The Friendship Café, a normally 
bustling community hub in Barton 
and Tredworth, has been closed to 
the public but behind the scenes 
they have worked with Fair Shares 
and 37 volunteers to coordinate  
food donations, deliver 122 food 
parcels and support 435 people in 
the local area. 

Barton and Tredworth is the 
most ethnically diverse ward in 
Gloucestershire. 41.4% of its 
population are from an ethnic 
minority group and 10.3% from a 
white background other than White 
British. Community figures in the area 
have been proactively supporting 
residents throughout the pandemic. 

Faith leaders from the mosques 
and churches, as well as local 
doctors have provided information 
in many languages. The churches 
have delivered online services and 
WhatsApp prayers, while volunteers 
supported those going through 
bereavements.

RESPONSE –  
COMMUNITY RESILIENCE

435
and support

people in the 
local area

37
volunteers

122
deliver

food parcels

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 12

RESPONSE - COMMUNITY RESILIENCE

P
age 26



communities, businesses, councils, NHS 
and police to address the inequalities and 
deprivation we see locally. There should be 
specialist teams in public sector organisations 
who can act as a bridge between the 
organisation and the community, who 
understand that BAME residents are not 
homogenous. There needs to be proper 
community development backed up by 
resources.

help organisations like ourselves. Aside from 
this and contact with a few local councillors, 
there has not been enough support from 
some key public sector organisations. Some 
departments in the public sector are not 
proactive enough with BAME communities so 
the café and volunteers have had to step in 
and provide that support for people. 

“Everyone has a role to play and one 
organisation cannot do this work alone. We 
need to work together, the voluntary sector, 

We filled the Friendship Café with donated 
supplies from locals as well as supermarkets, 
and the street reps come to collect and 
distribute it. We also have two kitchens here, 
so we have been working with Fair Shares, 
Black Elders and others to cook about 300 
hot meals each week for the local community. 
We’ve found that a lot of our established 
connections have been invaluable at this time, 
and we’ve also forged many new connections 
too. 6,000 hot meals were provided between 
March and August alone.

“I have to stress that Friendship Café hasn’t 
been working alone – it’s lots of different 
people and organisations getting together, so 
credit to everybody – it’s not something that 
one person or group can work alone on. We 
have learned how to adapt and how useful it 
is to have a central base to work from. If there 
was no community centre, I don’t know how 
we could have done this work.[1] 

“The Café’s sewing studio has also been used 
by volunteers to make scrubs and masks to 
donate to Gloucester hospital. In response to 
COVID-19, Aysha has started online sewing 
tutorials called ‘sew with me’, streamed 
on YouTube. She delivers kits to people in 
advance who want to take part.

“Thank you to Gloucestershire County 
Council’s Growing Your Communities grant 
for giving us funding to help us re-open St 
James’ City Farm. Also, from ‘Gloucestershire 
Funders’ who came together to step in and 

There has certainly been 
a lot of confusion and 
uncertainty, as nobody was 
sure at first what to do and 
how to do it. We wanted 
to adapt to the need in the 
area, as we are here for the 
community. People from the 
area organised themselves 
and came together to create 
a street rep scheme; there 
are 102 streets in the area, 
so that’s a lot of volunteers 
all coordinating through 
social media. They distribute 
leaflets and organise support 
for anyone on their street 
who needs it, such as food 
and meal deliveries, and we 
are helping with this effort. 

Imran Atcha,  
Friendship Café, Barton and Tredworth

How has the Friendship café supported the wider 
community through the pandemic? 

13REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

RESPONSE - COMMUNITY RESILIENCE

P
age 27



1 Read more here: glosfunders.org/2020/07/glosfunders-spotlight-with-friendship-cafe/
2 Khady Gueye was one of the organisers of the Black Lives Matter protest in Lydney 
and has since set up a Local Equality Commission for the Forest of Dean.

NKG, as a Black-owned 
company, took stock 
after George Floyd’s 
murder and decided to 
use our research, media 
and design skills for 
community projects, 
to ensure that Black 
voices and ideas would 
be given the tools 
needed to convert that 
energy into a longer-
term programmatic 
agenda. Broadly I found 
people’s engagement 
with this BLM movement 
surprising and really 
heartening; but the 
lack of discourse 
around connecting the 
underlying systemic 
issues really troubling. 

Rebecca Ajulu-Bushell,  
NKG, Bourton-on-the-Water

“I reached out to Khady because of 
the parallels of our stories; we are 
both mixed race in a middle-class 
area. We talked about what would 
help the Gloucestershire area address 
racial and economic injustice. We 
had a conversation about the term 
BAME – BAME becomes more 
relevant when our numbers are so 
low. There needs to be a sense of 
political Blackness, drawing dividing 
lines is counterintuitive. Economic 
justice and health care are relevant to 
all of us and the white working-class 
people in Gloucestershire. We badly 
need a sense of unity and ability to 
rally together. The cycle of poverty and 
trauma is generational, and divisions 
have brought us to despair. I have 
hope that we can bring people along.

“The Local Equality Commission (LEC) 
was born out of Khady’s courage 
and energy. It came together after 
we reached out and talked about 
what we thought we can offer the 
Gloucestershire community. This 
involved taking steps to address the 
fractures that have occurred on a 
macro level through austerity over 
the last decade and on a micro level, 
through the cultural opposition that 

occurred over the Lydney protest. Our 
aim is to have more conversations on 
racial justice in rural England. How do 
we meet that challenge in a place that 
is hyper-conservative and doesn’t feel 
relevant to many because ‘there are no 
black people here’? 

“Our plan is to democratise access to 
resources by working with schools, 
youth groups and institutions instead 
of trying to create a separate space. 
We hope to provide a model for rural 
race-based equality work. Khady has 
been asked to look over local council 
equality reports, sit on diversity panels, 
and produce race-based resources 
for local schools. The LEC are working 
with the Ragman’s Farm Market 
Gardens, Land Workers Alliance 
and Land in Our Names on a youth 
agriculture initiative for BAME kids, and 
the Forest of Dean Sculpture Trail to 
create an installation.” 

SUPPORTING BAME COMMUNITY 
GROUPS 

It is clear that BAME and faith volunteers and 
community groups have played a huge role in 
supporting their local communities through the 
pandemic. As the Race Equality Foundation states: 
“Many of them are doing this against a background 
of declining funding, rising demand, and challenging 
commissioning arrangements” making their future 
uncertain. (Race Equality Foundation, 2020) 

Locally, BAME voluntary organisations are 
predominantly run by unpaid volunteers and lack the 
necessary organisational infrastructure to apply for 
funding that can enable them to become sustainable 
in the long term. Due to these constraints, their 
work is largely reactive and action-based. Yet, these 
organisations are best placed to provide culturally 
responsive support to those most in need and who are 
unable or unlikely to access mainstream support. 

The crucial role that BAME groups and individuals 
have played in preventing harm, disseminating 
information and supporting vulnerable people should 
be applauded. To carry on playing this vital role 
effectively, it is essential that the sector receive the 
necessary support and recognition to ensure long-
term viability.

What made you want to get involved with the 
Black Lives Matter movement? 

14REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

RESPONSE - COMMUNITY RESILIENCE

P
age 28



15REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

RESPONSE - WORKPLACE HEALTH AND WELLBEING

05
RESPONSE – WORKPLACE 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING

As described earlier in this report, 
the nature of BAME people’s 
employment has been a key 
factor in the disproportionate 
risk faced by them during the 
pandemic. As early as April, the 
NHS Confederation released 
a paper highlighting the 
emerging evidence that BAME 
health and care professionals 
were overrepresented among 
coronavirus fatalities. 

The paper called for immediate action 
to be taken to mitigate risks to BAME 
communities and health and care 
workers, including an examination 
of the availability of personal 
protective equipment (PPE), testing, 
cultural and religious observances, 
and better and more transparent 
collection and reporting of ethnicity 
data to understand the full impact of 
COVID-19 on BAME patients (NHS 
Confederation, 2020).

This section will outline some of the 
challenges BAME staff have faced as 
part of the implementation of the two 
main measures designed to support 
workplace health and wellbeing during 
the pandemic: PPE and occupational 
risk assessment tools. 

PPE

Though BAME people represent 20% 
of the NHS workforce, analysis in 
April showed that 64% of COVID-19 
fatalities in the NHS were BAME 
employees (Cook, 2020). Participants 
in the PHE stakeholder engagement 
felt too little had been done to protect 
these staff. 

Some were unaware of the work that 
the NHS has been doing and others 
felt it was insufficient. Some had 
personally experienced or received 
reports from colleagues about racism, 
bullying and harassment at work. 
This meant that they were reluctant 
to speak up about concerns, such as 
PPE shortages, which placed them at 
higher risk. 

Others believed that BAME frontline 
workers were sometimes given 
substandard quality or inadequate 
PPE due to the nature of their roles. 
Numerous examples were given in 
which staff were not able to access 
appropriate PPE to protect themselves 
in line with national guidance and 
being afraid to speak up about this. 
Stakeholders called for an environment 
that enables staff to express concerns 
and have these met effectively.  
(PHE, 2020)

This is a long-standing issue that 
existed prior to COVID-19. BAME staff 
are often concerned about raising 
concerns because of past experiences 
and fear of consequences for speaking 
up. In Gloucestershire, BAME 
employees in the hospitals trust are 
1.87 times more likely to enter formal 
disciplinary investigation than White 
colleagues (GHNHSFT, 2019). 

In Gloucestershire County Council 
last year, 9.30% of formal disciplinary 
procedures involved BAME staff 
members, though BAME staff 
represent 6.23% of the workforce 
(Gloucestershire County Council, 
2020).

The PHE stakeholder engagement 
highlighted even greater concerns 
about frontline essential workers 
outside of health and care settings, 
such as transport workers, security 
staff and carers. Some stakeholders 
felt that there was initial confusion on 
risk and the levels of PPE required for 
those working outside of health and 
care settings, which may have led 
to BAME key workers being poorly 
protected. (PHE, 2020)

P
age 29



RISK ASSESSMENT TOOLS

Evidence-based occupational risk assessment tools have been widely 
adopted across the health and care system to help employees and 
managers to identify those who may be at increased risk of developing 
severe symptoms of COVID-19. Support and guidance must accompany the 
use of these tools to ensure that workers do not feel discriminated against 
and ensure that they feel safe to identify risks and issues without fear of 
losing their job. (PHE 2020)

Figure 4. Example COVID-19 risk assessment process (Salford CVS, 2020)

In the absence of any guidance around 
developing a culturally competent 
risk assessment (see section 8 for a 
definition of cultural competence), NHS 
organisations have adapted the guidance 
to suit local requirements. NHS trusts in 
Gloucestershire have started to implement 
assessments and are currently auditing 
the process. The audit is running through 
two cycles and results will be available in 
Autumn.4 

Gloucestershire County Council has a 
two-stage process to risk assessment 
that involves an initial check list to 
determine vulnerability, followed by a full 
COVID-19 risk assessment undertaken 
by Occupational Health. It uses a process 
supported by the Faculty of Occupational 
Medicine for use in local authority settings. 

‘COVID-age’ summarises vulnerability 
for combinations of risk factors including 
age, sex and ethnicity and various health 
problems. It works by translating the risk 
associated with each risk factor into years, 
which are added to (or subtracted from) 
an individual’s actual age. This then gives 
a single overall measure of vulnerability.

NHS England issued guidelines that local 
NHS trusts must implement workplace 
risk assessments for all employees and 
audit the process. Stakeholders involved 
in the PHE review welcomed the inclusion 
of ethnicity as a risk factor but questioned 
variance in completion.

We are pleased that steps 
have been taken in NHS 
services to ensure risk 
assessments are carried out 
on a precautionary basis 
and that being of a non-
white ethnicity has been 
included as a risk factor 
in the risk assessment 
frameworks and guidance. 
However, there is 
significant variation in how 
these are carried out

PHE, 2020

Employers to access health safety and welfare of employees including:

1. Workplace assessment

2. Workforce assessment

Employers to discuss implications and to take appropriate  
measures to mitigate risk of COVID-19 infection risk to NHS staff.

Age and 
ethnicity:

• BME ethnicity 
ages above 
55, particularly 
in those with 
comorbidities

• white european 
ethnicity aged 
over 60

Underlying 
health 

conditions 
including:

Clinical vulnerable 
groups including:

• hypertension

• cardiovascular 
disease (CVD)

• diabetes mellitus 
(DM)

• chronic kidney 
disease (CKD)

• chronic 
obstructive 
pulmonary 
disease (COPD)

Sex:

Males at higher risk

Pregnancy:

• all pregnant 
women should 
have a risk 
assessment

• women > 28 
weeks pregnant 
or have underlying 
condition should 
be recommended 
to stay at home

• women < 28 
weeks pregnant 
should only work 
in patient facing 
roles where risk 
assessment 
supports this Risk factors:

Lifestyles

Obesity

Smoking

High blood pressure

Disability

2. Individual assessment

4Results not available in time for this report.

16REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

RESPONSE - WORKPLACE HEALTH AND WELLBEING

P
age 30



I have a slight worry 
that raising concerns as 
a Black employee about 
COVID-19 risks may result 
in Black/BAME employees 
being required to have 
any subsequent vaccine 
as a condition of their 
employment. Hopefully this 
will never happen.

I believe I have been 
expected to essentially 
self-mitigate any COVID-19 
risks as per the rest of 
my team to meet the 
requirements of my role.

I didn’t understand the 
purpose of the assessment 
based on the information I 
was given. However, from 
what I have heard through 
the media, family and 
friends, I am aware of the 
need for a risk assessment 
to be completed and 
protective equipment to be 
provided by my employers 
who have a duty of care 
towards all employees.

I had an idea of what was 
happening and that I was 
more susceptible but the 
way it was worded and the 
type of questions asked 
were more about how I felt 
about returning to work 
and if was I scared.

Anonymous, Black Workers Network

Locally, colleagues have expressed some 
concerns about the risk assessment 
process:

Key to improving the lived experience 
of BAME staff in the workplace is 
developing honest and open channels for 
communication within which employees 
are safely able to raise concerns and share 
ideas around process and practice. It 
relies on a culturally competent approach 
to service development and delivery. This 
ensures that those being risk assessed 
understand the implications of the 
assessment and that those conducting 
them don’t inadvertently drive stigma and 
discrimination towards employees who 
may be vulnerable, not just due to ethnicity 
but due to age, gender or long-term 
conditions.

Guidance should enable managers to 
be able to fulfil their role to carry out 
risk assessments in a meaningful and 
sensitive way that results in a personalised 
outcome. Equally, employees need to 
understand the purpose of the assessment 
and put themselves forward without fear of 
reprimand or negative action. 

FUTURE ACTION

The key to addressing these challenges is 
working with BAME employees to create 
healthy and supportive workplaces that 
have zero tolerance for discrimination 
and empower BAME staff to raise 
concerns about occupational risk and 
safety. Gloucestershire’s multi-agency 
BAME COVID-19 Task and Finish Group 
(see section 8) calls on public sector 
organisations to work with them and their 
BAME employees to:

• Work collaboratively to raise 
awareness of the issues faced by 
BAME employees and communities in 
light of COVID-19 and share examples 

of good practice to encourage 
consistency. 

• Work with community groups and 
organisations to promote and 
encourage a culturally competent 
approach to risk assessment.

• Encourage employers to create open 
and honest listening channels that 
promote co-production and co-design 
with the people most affected.

• Encourage assessment of workforce 
planning to ensure that it does not 
have a negative impact on BAME 
employees, contracted staff and 
volunteers.

• Encourage organisations to examine 
how their new working policies and 
practices impact on BAME staff and 
volunteers and consider how they can 
provide additional support.

• Secure membership of NHS 
Confederation BAME Leadership 
Network and Black Southwest 
Network.

• Keep abreast of emerging research to 
improve and share understanding of 
equality, diversity and inclusion. 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 17

RESPONSE - WORKPLACE HEALTH AND WELLBEING

P
age 31



Figure 5. Awareness of government economic measures during COVID-19 by ethnicity (%)

This has contributed towards 
a lack of trust in the health 
system and apathy among 
ethnic minorities towards 
health information, and 
consequential decisions 
among communities who 
didn’t trust the system and 
were apathetic about health 
messages.

PHE, 2020

06

White
British

0%

10%

20%

40%

60%

30%

50%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Chinese Indian Pakistani Bangladeshi Black  
African

Black  
Caribbean

All

93 93

81
78

61

78

88
92

PREVENTION –  
COVID-19 AND COMMUNICATION

As we respond to further waves of 
COVID-19, there are lessons to be learned 
and immediate steps we can take to reduce 
or prevent the impact on BAME groups in 
Gloucestershire. 

The PHE stakeholder research highlighted 
the need to change the way public sector 
organisations communicate and engage with 
BAME communities on matters relating to 
the prevention of COVID-19 and other health 
protection and promotion measures. If we are 
to prevent further impact, this action must be 
taken swiftly. Locally the same issue has been 
identified during the research phase of this 
report.

The Runnymede Trust commissioned 
a national poll of 2,585 adults about 
experiences during the pandemic, including 
whether they were aware of health protection 
and economic measures rolled out by the 
government, including:

• The request for people to ‘Stay Home, 
Protect the NHS, Save Lives’

• The request for people to ‘Stay Alert, 
Control the Virus, Save Lives’

• Making Statutory Sick Pay (SSP) 
available from the first day of self-isolating

• Paying 80% of employees’ wages if they 
are unable to work during the crisis

There are significant differences between 
ethnic groups (Figure 4). The average 
awareness of all of these measures was 
particularly low among Bangladeshis at 61%, 
compared to 93% among White British. 29% 
of Bangladeshis reported that they were not 
aware of any of these measures (Runnymede 
Trust, 2020). People are less likely to access 
financial support or follow guidance if they are 
not aware of it.

The poll found that present messaging, which 
describes BAME people as at increased risk 
of complications and death from COVID-19 is 
compounding pre-existing mistrust and fear 
of public services felt by many BAME people. 
This mistrust is based on a legacy of racism 
and discrimination in health care. 

For example, the unethical medical 
experimentation on African slaves and 
more recently in the Tuskegee Study5; the 
disproportionate number of people from Black 
and minority ethnic groups detained under 
the Mental Health Act (DHSOC, 2018), and 
that Black women in the UK are 5 times more 
likely to die during pregnancy and childbirth 
than White women (Anekwe, 2020).

5From 1932-72, the US Public Health Service, in trying to learn 
more about syphilis, withheld adequate treatment from a group of 
poor black men who had the disease, causing needless pain and 
suffering. cdc.gov/tuskegee

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 18

PREVENTION - COVID-19 AND COMMUNICATION

P
age 32



We need to get across that testing or 
presenting with COVID-19 is not going 
to be the end of the story and that there 
is no conspiracy to hospitalise.

Abbas, Gloucestershire County Council

IMPROVING AWARENESS AND BUILDING 
TRUST

Building confidence in the messaging and public services 
generally, requires culturally competent (see section 8) 
and easy to understand versions of guidance in multiple 
languages. There is a need to dispel myths, explain why it 
is important to follow the guidance and explain what exactly 
is involved during testing, treatment and vaccination. This 
should encourage people with symptoms to present earlier, 
which means individuals can receive appropriate treatment 
and help prevent complications and can isolate sooner to 
protect those around them. 

Messages should also come from a trusted source. These 
include but are not limited to; Gloucester FM radio, church 
groups, the mosques, the Jewish community groups, 
and grassroots volunteers and organisations. During the 
pandemic, many communities established a ‘street rep’ 
scheme for their areas to coordinate volunteers and ensure 
no one fell through the gaps. Educating and equipping the 
volunteer street reps is another way to help ensure that the 
right information is reaching people. 

Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum’s (LRF) 
COVID-19 emergency response included developing a 
communications plan that involved working with BAME and 
faith communities. The multi-agency communications cell 
worked directly with leaders within the Muslim community 
to help shape messages around religious holidays and 
respond with information and advice on areas of interest 
or concerns. The BAME COVID-19 Task and Finish Group 
(see section 8) has developed a section on the county 
council website with information and resources for BAME 
communities.6

Future COVID-19 communication plans, both those of the 
LRF and its constituent organisations, should build on this 
and incorporate these PHE stakeholder requests:

• ensure that all communication and marketing include 
culturally specific imagery and content, using voices 
of communities with lived experiences to shape future 
public messaging;

• work with community and faith leaders to develop a 
communication plan to mitigate the fears and stigma 
in communities arising from media headlines around 
BAME and COVID-19;

• public bodies to continue to develop and strengthen 
their advocacy roles;

• highlight and disseminate models of best and promising 
practice; and

• continue with proactive community engagement 
throughout the next phase of the pandemic.

6gloucestershire.gov.uk/Covid-19-information-and-advice/information-and-resources-
for-bame-communities

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 19

PREVENTION - COVID-19 AND COMMUNICATION

P
age 33



Excess weight affects all population groups but is higher 
for those people aged between 55-74 years, people living in 
deprived areas and in some Black, Asian and minority ethnic 
(BAME) groups compared with the general population. It is 
established that the health risk of excess weight for some 
BAME groups occur at a lower BMI than for White populations.

PHE, 2020

There is a lack of awareness 
in the West Indian 
community. There is no 
guidance for them on diet or 
sleep. They feel powerless to 
do anything about lifestyle 
factors. Messages are generic 
and not culturally targeted. 
Things should be shared in 
other languages and in a 
format for ordinary people.” 

Carol, Community Builder

* Physical inactivity is defined as engaging in less than 30 minutes of physical activity per week.

07
Health improvement campaigns and services 
support and encourage people to make 
healthier lifestyle choices and manage chronic 
conditions but are not always delivered or 
promoted in a way that meets the needs of 
BAME populations. The Healthy Lifestyles 
Service in Gloucestershire is given as a local 
example which has done some targeted 
work with BAME people in Gloucester. More 
consistent and culturally competent (see 
section 8) targeting and delivery of health 
improvement programmes is necessary 
to mitigate the impact of future waves 
of COVID-19 and the long-term health 
inequalities faced by BAME people. 

COVID-19 AND PRE-EXISTING 
CONDITIONS

There was at least one pre-existing condition 
in 91% of the COVID-19 deaths in England 
and Wales (ONS, 2020). Diabetes was 
mentioned on 21% of death certificates 
where COVID-19 was also included; for Asian 
people this rises to 43% and for Black people 
45%. The same disparities were seen for 
hypertensive disease (PHE, 2020).

It is clear that while anyone can catch 
COVID-19, people who already suffer 
from poor health are more vulnerable to 
developing severe symptoms and have a 
higher risk of dying from the disease. 

As outlined in this section, the occurrence of 
pre-existing conditions in BAME populations 
is likely a significant factor to explain some of 
the differences in outcomes from COVID-19. 
With the likelihood of COVID-19 cases 
increasing, it is essential that we act now 
to ensure the lessons learned from the first 
wave are not repeated and that we put in 
place actions that reduce or prevent the 
disproportionate and unacceptable impact of 
a second wave on BAME people.

trauma or mental health conditions, or 
linked to the wider determinants of health, 
such as deprivation or long working hours. 
42% of people of BAME backgrounds live 
in England’s most green space-deprived 
neighbourhoods, compared to 20% of White 
people (Friends of the Earth, 2020).

Another systemic factor highlighted by 
stakeholders in the PHE report are the 
shortcomings in the way that we, as the 
public sector, engage with our diverse 
communities. To be most effective, 
preventative health promotion has to be 
strengths-based, working with individuals 
and the community assets that already exist 
in Gloucestershire. This means letting go of 
a one-size-fits-all service and using evidence 
and external input to proactively target a 
culturally competent programme for those 
who face increased risk.

PREVENTION –  
COVID-19 AND 
PRE-EXISTING 
CONDITIONS

Living with excess weight 
is a risk factor for a range 
of chronic diseases, 
including type 2 diabetes, 
cardiovascular disease, many 
cancers, liver and respiratory 
disease. Obesity is also 
associated with reduced 
life expectancy, and lower 
quality of life.

Evidence is also emerging on the relationship 
between excess weight and COVID-19. 
60.7% of adults in Gloucestershire are 
reported as being overweight or obese and 
17.3% are physically inactive* (PHE fingertips). 

While better than the national average, there 
is significant potential to have a greater 
impact on the lives of these individuals and 
our local health and care system. What’s 
more, PHE (2020) highlighted the disparities in 
excess weight between people from different 
ethnic groups:

TARGETING HEALTH 
IMPROVEMENT

Health improvement, including lowering 
obesity, improving mental wellbeing, smoking 
cessation and effective management of 
chronic conditions, has a number of benefits 
for all population groups, as well as reducing 
the severity of infectious diseases. There are 
multiple factors that contribute to health which 
could be personal, such as a history of

20REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

PREVENTION - COVID-19 AND PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS

P
age 34



The outcome was really 
positive as most of the ladies 
went on to eventually take 
out gym memberships. Two 
of the women went on to 
the Making Every Contact 
Count Training and have 
encouraged other women 
to be more active. They are 
now part of the Barton and 
Tredworth active ladies’ 
group and have been 
working with Active Glos to 
get funding to set up small 
projects like couch to 5k, 
fitness classes and beginners 
cycling courses.

WE CAN MOVE 

In 2018, Active Gloucestershire started 
the ‘We can move’ place-based pilot 
project in Barton and Tredworth, funded by 
Sport England. It aimed to decrease levels 
of physical inactivity, utilise community 
connections to create networks of 
champions, and build a positive movement of 
individuals and organisations making physical 
activity the norm in the area. 

To begin with, they brought together 60 local 
stakeholders to increase awareness about 
physical health and wellbeing, map local 
assets, highlight gaps, barriers and underused 
facilities, and build networks and connections. 

Many women, particularly but not exclusively, 
from BAME backgrounds, felt that there were 
very limited opportunities that were accessible 
to them. There were very few female only/
culturally appropriate activities.

Active Gloucestershire partnered with the 
Health Lifestyles Service (HLS) to fund a six-
week exercise class with support for women 
in the community to overcome cultural and 
religious barriers, led by HLS Coach Khatija 
Mehter: Throughout the project 283 women actively 

engaged in physical activity that was delivered 
by the Barton and Tredworth Steering Group; 
the majority of whom were from BAME groups 
and were inactive (less than 30 minutes a 
week) prior to engaging.

This pilot project has been extended until 
July 2022; the next phase will build on the 
learning from Barton and Tredworth but will 
include additional capacity and experience 
via a partnership with Gloucester Community 
Building Collective and their six Community 
Builders. This will reach new areas with a 
focus on two wards; Barton and Tredworth 
and Kingsholm.

WHAT DOES CULTURALLY 
COMPETENT HEALTH 
IMPROVEMENT LOOK LIKE? 

Culturally competent: ‘the ability 
of providers and organisations to 
effectively deliver services that 
meet the social, faith, cultural, and 
linguistic needs of service users’

(PHE, 2020).

The benefits of health promotion have long 
been recognised but COVID-19 has increased 
the urgency to make improvements. The 
public sector in Gloucestershire has many 
levers to influence the health and wellbeing 
of its residents, including green space in 
planning, district council-owned leisure 
centres, county council commissioned 
services, primary health care and social 
prescribing and many NHS health promotion 
services and campaigns. 

The work of the Healthy Lifestyles Service 
(HLS) and Active Gloucestershire shows what 
can be achieved when using a strengths-

based approach with BAME communities. 
To have a more widespread impact, this 
approach needs to be more consistent 
and scaled-up, alongside research into the 
differences in outcomes for BAME people 
accessing support for their weight. In the 
future, HLS are looking to publish profiles of 
their coaches to show the diversity of their 
workforce and encourage a wider range of 
people to come to them for support.

Across the board, health improvement should 
be informed by the views and experiences 
of BAME service users and all groups who 
face health inequalities, their families and 
communities. Ideally services should be co-
developed with the target audience to help 
identify and address barriers to access and 
participation. Communication strategies need 
to be culturally sensitive and use community 
resources to publicise the intervention. Further 
training and research are needed in order that 
those involved in health improvement can 
understand how conditions present in BAME 
populations and learn what has worked in 
other areas to encourage positive lifestyle 
change. 

21REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

PREVENTION - COVID-19 AND PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS

P
age 35



RECOVERY – BECOMING A CULTURALLY 
COMPETENT ORGANISATION08
This report refers to 
some of the immediate 
action that must be 
taken to communicate 
effectively and to 
prevent conditions 
which increase 
COVID-19 related risk. 
These actions must 
be carried out in a 
culturally competent 
way, considering the 
culturally-specific 
concerns of BAME 
communities.

However, it is also vital that in 
the longer term, public sector 
organisations become more culturally 
competent so that this understanding 
is embedded throughout 
organisations’ policy and behaviours.

In the wake of George Floyd’s death, 
lots of organisations nationally and 
internationally sought to demonstrate 
what they were doing to respond 
to racial injustice, ranging from the 
superficial to genuinely reflective. 
Many local organisations have 
seized the opportunity presented by 
the significant changes to working 
culture during the pandemic to build 
back differently and have begun 
new initiatives to further this internal 
improvement process on racial 
equality.

The NHS trusts in Gloucestershire are 
establishing a steering group, working 
with Diverse City, BAME community 
advocates and staff members. Eight 
senior leaders across the county’s 
NHS trusts will take part in a reverse 
mentoring scheme. They will also 
embark on a programme of learning 
from BAME people on individual 
services and health conditions. 

A new independent Community 
Legitimacy Panel has been launched 
to help Gloucestershire Constabulary 
address issues of racial inequality. It 

will look at areas such as recruitment 
and promotion, use of force, and stop 
and search.

Gloucester City Council is setting up a 
commission with partner organisations 
and community representatives to 
review race relations with a view 
to producing recommendations 
to improve the lives of BAME 
communities. The council will also 
review all monuments, statues and 
plaques in the city connected with the 
slave trade.

In June, Gloucestershire County 
Council established a BAME 
COVID-19 Task and Finish Group, 
which is now multi-agency to help 
drive change on racial equality.

This section explores the concept 
of ‘cultural competence’ and 
what it means for individuals 
and organisations, as well as the 
steps required to develop cultural 
competence. 

22REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

RECOVERY - BECOMING A CULTURALLY COMPETENT ORGANISATION

P
age 36



7 pinterest.com/pin/815644182495981456

Figure 6. Continuum of Cultural Competence7

As Figure 5 shows, cultural blindness 
or ‘treating everyone the same’ is not 
the same as inclusion and equality 
as giving no consideration to how 
decisions and actions impact on 
marginalised groups generally means 
that only the needs of the dominant 
group will be met. Improving the lived 
experience of BAME individuals relies 
on a culturally competent approach 
to everything, including recruitment, 
training, workforce development, 
service development and delivery, and 
public engagement. 

This tasks individuals and 
organisations to examine how the 
existing structures combined with 
their own understanding of the world 
leads to decision making that can 
exclude people of colour. It requires 
a shift away from the current way of 
thinking, seeing and doing, towards an 
approach and organisational strategy 

and value base that sees the world 
through the lens of diversity, inclusion, 
and belonging, so individuals of all 
backgrounds feel included to either 
work within the organisation or use 
its services. It’s about facilitating an 
environment of open and honest 
communication in a diverse setting. 
Being a culturally competent 
organisation means actively and 
vocally investing in continued learning, 
listening, and change. This benefits all 
employees, allowing people from all 
backgrounds to thrive.

STEPS TOWARDS 
ACHIEVING CULTURAL 
COMPETENCE

• Evaluate where your organisation 
is now in order to understand 
where you need to go next e.g. 
do you have a diverse leadership 
and senior management team? 

Diverse teams make better 
business decisions (McGregor 
Smith, 2018).

• Provide cultural intelligence 
training for senior leadership 
teams and decision makers.

• Provide unconscious bias training 
for the workforce.

• Foster a cross cultural listening 
and learning environment within 
the organisation and for use with 
staff networks and communities.

• Review recruitment processes to 
ensure a diverse employee base.

• Develop cross-cultural 
relationships in order to 
understand the history and needs 
of the communities that you serve.

CULTURAL COMPETENCE 

Cultural competence is the ability to understand, 
communicate with, and effectively interact with people 
across cultures and encompasses four components:

Awareness of one’s own cultural worldview

Developing positive attitudes towards cultural 
differences

Gaining knowledge of different cultural 
practices and worldviews

Cross-cultural skills

23REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

1

2

3

4

RECOVERY - BECOMING A CULTURALLY COMPETENT ORGANISATION

Cultural 
Destructiveness

Forced 
assimilation, 
subjugation, 
rights and 
privileges for 
dominant  
groups only.

Racism, 
maintain 
stereotypes, 
unfair hiring 
practices.

Differences 
ignored, “treat 
everyone the 
same”, only 
meet needs 
of dominant 
groups.

Explore cultural 
issues, are 
committed, 
assess needs 
of organisation 
and individuals.

Recognise 
individual 
and cultural 
differences, 
seek advice 
from diverse 
groups, hire 
culturally 
unbiased staff.

Implement 
changes 
to improve 
services based 
upon cultural 
needs.

Cultural  
Incapacity

Cultural  
Blindness

Cultural  
Pre-Competence

Cultural  
Competence

Cultural  
Proficiency

P
age 37



We all knew that many of our 
BAME residents, colleagues, 
family and friends had 
been galvanised and were 
involved in volunteering 
and working with agencies 
such as Gloucestershire 
County Council and 
district councils to support 
vulnerable and at-risk groups 
in the community, as well 
as supporting each other. 
However, as the evidence 
of the disproportionate 
impact began to emerge, we 
also observed a level of fear, 
misinformation and lack of 
awareness about where to go 
for help.

We knew that BAMEs would 
have been working in 
essential frontline roles and 
as a result more vulnerable 
but we didn’t know what 
was happening locally to 
respond to that increased 
vulnerability. Knowing 
what we know about those 
communities we recognised 
that additional measures that 
were culturally competent 
would need to be put in place.

Althia Lyn, Co-Chair of the  
Black Workers Network

BAME COVID-19 TASK AND 
FINISH GROUP

In early June, prior to the publication of the 
PHE report, Gloucestershire County Council’s 
Black Workers Network, in collaboration 
with Public Health colleagues instigated a 
Task and Finish Group to help understand 
and respond to the emerging evidence of 
the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on 
BAME communities. 

It was not clear at the time how this evidence 
translated into the lived experiences of BAME 
communities in Gloucestershire and what 
measures should be put in place moving 
forward to minimise this impact. 

Membership to date includes Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Black Workers Network 
leads, Public Health, the Older People’s 
Hub, mental health commissioners, district 
council, Community Help Hubs, Barnwood 
Trust, Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group, and Gloucestershire Constabulary to 
name a few. 

In the first few months, the group has worked 
on improving the accessibility and availability 
of culturally appropriate information; providing 
evidence-based information on vitamin D; 
contributing to the BAME workforce risk 
assessment; and working with community 
leaders and networks to better engage and 
reach BAME communities.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 24

RECOVERY - BECOMING A CULTURALLY COMPETENT ORGANISATION

P
age 38



In identifying and raising awareness of the impact of 
COVID-19 on BAME communities and individuals, 
in the longer term our focus is to ensure improved 
access, experience and outcomes for BAME people 
in public services and contributing to a reduction 
in health inequalities. The publication of PHE’s 
stakeholder engagement report provided a framework 
for action going forward. To help us do this, we will 
work collaboratively to encourage stakeholders to 
commit to:

• annual equality reporting to target positive action 
initiatives;

• conducting EIAs and using them in a  
meaningful way;

• integrating race equality in to commissioning, 
quality systems, reviews and contract monitoring;

• setting targets to ensure that the workforce is 
representative of the communities they serve at all 
levels of the organisation;

• developing a diverse and inclusive approach to 
leadership and progression;

• culturally competent workforce development and 
employment practices; and

• continuing dialogue with BAME communities 
and users of services in order to build trust and 
increase engagement with mainstream services.

The journey for the group has just begun.  
If you would like to find out more please contact  
bwn@gloucestershire.gov.uk

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 25

RECOVERY - BECOMING A CULTURALLY COMPETENT ORGANISATION

P
age 39



09RECOVERY –  
CO-OPERATION AND CO-PRODUCTION

Another longer-term ambition must be for 
public sector organisations to improve the 
way they collaborate and co-produce services 
and support with BAME people. COVID-19 
has shone a light on how the inter-related 
dynamics of socio-economic disadvantage 
and institutional racism can lead to a tragic 
loss of life but these inequalities are not new. 

A combination of discriminatory policies and 
processes, unconscious bias among staff, 
and a lack of representation of BAME people 
at all levels of organisations has a detrimental 
impact on the access, experiences and 
outcomes of BAME residents in public 
services. 

The Equality Act explains that having due 
regard for advancing equality involves: 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages 
suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics.

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people 
with certain protected characteristics 
where these are different from the needs 
of other people. 

• Encouraging people with certain 
protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where their 
participation is disproportionately low. 
(Equality and Human Rights Commission, 
2014)

Collecting equality data, consulting with 
residents and completing Equality Impact 
Assessments is second nature to many in the 
public sector and there is undoubtedly a lot 

of good work being undertaken across the 
county in partnership with underrepresented 
groups. However, research for this report 
failed to find an example of an Equality Impact 
Assessment that had used the findings on 
ethnicity or religion to influence the design or 
delivery of a service. 

While inequality persists, more consistent 
collaborative action is required that works 
with individuals and communities, recognising 
the assets they have to contribute. Residents 
are often ‘done to’ or consulted with but then 
sometimes do not see the outcomes from 
their time and input. 

Consistent equalities data collection 
is important but another key aspect 
of addressing health inequalities is the 
interpretation of data and translating it into 
implementable solutions. BAME researchers 
and members of communities with lived 
experience of discrimination and structural 
racism should be a part of this process at 
every stage. 

On the next page are three sources of 
feedback from BAME residents, refugees and 
asylum seekers, gathered in the last year: 
Healthwatch conducted a BAME feedback 
session which focused on the NHS and 
primary care; Gloucestershire Action for 
Refugees and Asylum Seekers (GARAS) 
produce monthly stakeholder reports on their 
activities and challenges; and a joint BAME 
carers event was held in the Friendship Café. 

The third of these describes future plans to 
expand this feedback activity and crucially, 

explains what is being done with the insights 
received. To ensure the best use of everyone’s 
time and to have the necessary impact on 
health inequalities, this often underdeveloped 
next stage has to become standard practice. 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 26

RECOVERY - CO-OPERATION AND CO-PRODUCTION

P
age 40



RECOVERY –  
CO-OPERATION AND CO-PRODUCTION

HEALTHWATCH BAME 
FEEDBACK SESSION, 
FEBRUARY 2020 

• Language barriers - despite being 
assured that there will be interpreters 
available for them, often this is not 
the case and the women have to rely 
on younger members of the family to 
come to the appointments with them 
to act as interpreters.

• In particular, Barton Gate surgery 
was mentioned numerous times. 
There used to be Hindi speaking 
receptionists but not anymore.

• GP appointments - If offered an 
appointment at a different surgery, 
often the times didn’t correspond with 
public transport so they would be 
unable to get there. BAME residents 
and those living in deprived areas are 
more likely to rely on public transport.

• Inappropriate treatment - the husband 
of one of the group, who is a taxi 
driver, picked up a man who had been 
given diabetic treatment though he 
isn’t diabetic.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ACTION 
FOR REFUGEES AND ASYLUM 
SEEKERS (GARAS), APRIL-JULY 
2020

Those in the asylum system or with 
no recourse to public funds often face 
additional barriers. Helpfully, some of these 
barriers have been suspended during 
lockdown as part of the humanitarian 
response. GARAS and their work with 
refugees and asylum seekers seek to work 
in partnership with other agencies to better 
support refugees and asylum seekers. 
Ongoing collaboration with Gloucester 
Job Centre has facilitated fast tracking of 
Child Benefit claims, which helps alleviate 
difficulties low income families face. 

In June, GARAS helped a woman apply 
for Gloucestershire County Council’s 
COVID-19 Emergency Living Fund (a 
recently expanded version of the former 
Welfare Support Scheme). She and her 
children have now moved out of temporary 
accommodation into an affordable tenancy. 

Changes to working arrangements and 
service provision have also presented new 
challenges. Not all asylum seekers and 
refugees have the level of English or digital 
connectivity required to access the services 
and support which have moved online.

BAME CARERS EVENT, OCTOBER 2019

Gloucestershire County Council and Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) held an event in October 2019 with the 
Friendship Café to share information about numerous organisations and 
services with carers from BAME communities. It was also an opportunity 
for these organisations to hear what support carers from BAME 
communities wanted and what specific issues and challenges they face. 
Interpreters were present for people speaking Gujerati, Bengali, Arabic and 
Polish. 96 carers attended and the event was a success:

People found the information shared useful. Many registered with 
the Carers Hub. The main issues brought up by the carers regarded 
translation. The organisers have since held a meeting with the CCG and 
the hospital to discuss this and have agreed to work together to address 
this issue. One of the carer’s case studies will soon be used as part of a 
clinical training tool. 

The team have also been in conversation with Gloucestershire Health and 
Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) about supporting carers from BAME 
communities to be filmed as case studies for this training tool, to help share 
their voices and stories.

There are plans to hold more events around the county to share information 
and get more feedback. However, these were scheduled for spring and 
due to COVID-19 they have been postponed.

It has been a fantastically informative occasion.

I really enjoy this kind of event. I want more 
like this.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 27

RECOVERY - CO-OPERATION AND CO-PRODUCTION

P
age 41



8Anchor institutions share a number of key characteristics: 
geographic immobility (strong ties to the geographic area in 
which they are based through invested capital, mission and 
relationship to customers and employees); size (they tend to be 
large employers with significant purchasing power); and non-
profit )while there are examples of for-profit organisations, these 
institutions tend to operate not-for-profit)

10
RECOMMENDATIONS

a) Require comprehensive and 
good quality ethnicity data 
collection in all public services 
(directly provided and 
commissioned), including  
at death registration. 

b) Put in place cultural intelligence 
training and messaging to improve 
response rates 

a) Provide the capacity and 
resource for collaborative 
research with BAME employees, 
organisations and community 
representatives to understand 
the social, cultural, structural, 
economic, religious, and 
commercial factors related to 
COVID-19. 

b) Using the output from this 
research, co -produce and fund 
interventions to reduce the risk of 
catching COVID-19 and improve 
health outcomes.

Review commissioning procedures 
and practice to make sure that 
Equality Impact Assessments, 
BAME service user data and 
feedback are routinely used in a 
meaningful way to inform services. 
Training for commissioners should 
explicitly cover the differences in 
access, experience and outcomes 
for BAME residents and their 
responsibilities in addressing these.

System-wide commitment to 
the implementation of culturally 
competent occupational risk 
assessment tools, including 
assigning the required capacity and 

resource. Use our influence in the 
pubic sector to gather knowledge 
and share best practice to support 
the occupational health of key 
workers in the private sector.

Proactively work with 
BAME and faith community 
representatives to develop and 
distribute culturally competent 
COVID-19 prevention and health 
improvement communication 
plans at an organisation level and 
through Local Resilience Forum 
infrastructure.

Ensure that COVID-19 recovery 
strategies actively reduce 
inequalities caused by the wider 
determinants of health. The 
Recovery Coordination Group 
should regularly review the equality 
implications within its remit and 
seek input from BAME staff, 
residents and other marginalised 
groups. 

Undertake a stocktake of the 
BAME voluntary sector, examining 
further the contribution that it 
makes towards reducing health 
inequalities in Gloucestershire. 
Seek to build capacity and 
sustainability longer term within this 
sector.

Establish a Race Equality Panel for 
Gloucestershire, complementing 
the work of Gloucester City 
Council, to drive forward this 
agenda and create long term 
sustainable change. 

BEYOND COVID-19  
IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

FROM RESPONSE TO 
RECOVERY

In July of this year, the Gloucestershire 
Health and Wellbeing Board pledged 
to tackle health inequalities, and in light 
of COVID-19, particularly amongst the 
county’s BAME communities, through 
an ‘anchor institution’ approach8. This 
approach capitalises on the significant 
leverage of organisations such as local 
authorities, the NHS and educational 
institutions as employers, purchasers, land 
and asset owners and community leaders.

The Board is developing its Gloucestershire 
anchor institution approach, to:

• accelerate efforts to improve 
workplace race equality and promote, 
value and support diverse leadership 
across systems and institutions;

• ensure employment practices 
(including training, internships, 
apprenticeships and progression 
opportunities) are inclusive; and

• use local public sector ‘purchasing 
power’ to promote an inclusive local 
economy that encourages and values 
diversity.

Gloucestershire partners have also been 
working to address social mobility in the 
county. It began with a particular focus on 
school readiness, where Gloucestershire 
was an outlier, but the increased focus 
on COVID-19 and BAME communities 
suggests that the group’s attentions 

should move to this area and recommend 
improvements to improve the social 
mobility of residents from BAME groups.

As Gloucestershire moves out of the 
response phase of the pandemic, it is even 
more important to honour and expand 
on longstanding commitments to tackle 
the root causes of health inequalities. As 
organisations develop their recovery plans, 
we have a critical opportunity to rethink the 
approaches of the past that led us to this 
point and to instead work in partnership 
with communities to create long-term, 
sustainable change.

The impact of COVID-19 on BAME people 
in our communities has been stark. It 
has exposed and amplified deep seated 
inequalities, their root causes and the 
structural racism that underpins them. 
If we are to prevent further hurt and 
harm, we must be prepared to challenge 
ourselves as the Black Lives Matter 
movement has challenged the world. This 
is the time to act. 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 28

BEYOND COVID-19 IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

P
age 42



APPENDIX A
GLOUCESTERSHIRE’S POPULATION 
AND HEALTH INDICATORS

Table 5. The proportion of Gloucestershire County Council workers from a BAME 
background (6.29%)

Table 4. Population by ethnic group, Gloucestershire 2011 (% of population)

Table 6. Health Inequalities Dashboard, Gloucestershire (PHE, 2020)

Total 
Black, 

Asian and 
Ethnic 

Minority 

Mixed/ 
Multiple 
Ethnic 
Group 

Asian/ 
Asian 
British 

Black/ 
African/ 

Caribbean/ 
Black 
British 

Other 
Ethnic 
Group 

Total 
White 

Cheltenham 5.7 1.6 3.2 0.6 0.3 94.3 

Cotswold 2.2 0.8 1.0 0.3 0.1 97.8

Forest of Dean 1.5 0.6 0.6 0.2 0.1 98.5

Gloucester 10.9 2.9 4.8 2.9 0.3 89.1

Stroud 2.1 1.1 0.7 0.2 0.1 97.9

Tewkesbury 2.5 0.9 1.1 0.3 0.1 97.5

Gloucestershire 4.6 1.5 2.1 0.9 0.2 95.4

England 14.6 2.3 7.8 3.5 1.0 85.4

Race Percentage 
of 

Workforce 

Population of 
Gloucestershire

Variance 

Asian 2.24% 2.10% 0.14% 

Black 2.12% 0.90% 1.22% 

Mixed 1.39% 1.50% -0.11% 

Other 0.54% 0.20% 0.34% 

White British 91.53% 91.60% -0.07% 

White Other 2.18% 3.90% -1.72% 

Workforce stated 83.40% - - 

Unstated 16.60% - - 

TOTAL 100.00% 100.0% - 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

APPENDIX A

29

P
age 43



APPENDIX B APPENDIX C

Mandate comprehensive and quality ethnicity 
data collection and recording as part of 
routine NHS and social care data collection 
systems, including the mandatory collection of 
ethnicity data at death certification, and ensure 
that data are readily available to local health and 
care partners to inform actions to mitigate the 
impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities. 

Support community participatory research, in 
which researchers and community stakeholders 
engage as equal partners in all steps of the 
research process, to understand the social, 
cultural, structural, economic, religious, and 
commercial determinants of COVID-19 in 
BAME communities, and to develop readily 
implementable and scalable programmes to 
reduce risk and improve health outcomes. 

Improve access, experiences and outcomes 
of NHS, local government and integrated 
care systems commissioned services by 
BAME communities including: regular equity 
audits; use of health impact assessments; 
integration of equality into quality systems; good 
representation of black and minority ethnic 
communities among staff at all levels; sustained 
workforce development and employment 
practices; trust-building dialogue with service 
users. 

Accelerate the development of culturally 
competent occupational risk assessment 
tools that can be employed in a variety of 
occupational settings and used to reduce the 
risk of employee’s exposure to and acquisition 
of COVID-19, especially for key workers working 
with a large cross section of the general public or 
in contact with those infected with COVID-19.

Fund, develop and implement culturally 
competent COVID-19 education and 
prevention campaigns, working in partnership 
with local BAME and faith communities to 
reinforce individual and household risk reduction 
strategies; rebuild trust with and uptake of 
routine clinical services; reinforce messages on 
early identification, testing and diagnosis; and 
prepare communities to take full advantage of 
interventions including contact tracing, antibody 
testing and ultimately vaccine availability. 

Accelerate efforts to target culturally 
competent health promotion and 
disease prevention programmes for non-
communicable diseases promoting healthy 
weight, physical activity, smoking cessation, 
mental wellbeing and effective management 
of chronic conditions including diabetes, 
hypertension and asthma. 

Ensure that COVID-19 recovery strategies 
actively reduce inequalities caused by the 
wider determinants of health to create long 
term sustainable change. Fully funded, sustained 
and meaningful approaches to tackling ethnic 
inequalities must be prioritised.

Appoint an Executive Sponsor for race 
Executive Sponsors for race provide visible leadership 
on race and ethnicity in their organisation and can 
drive actions such as setting targets for ethnic minority 
representation, briefing recruitment agencies and 
supporting mentoring and sponsorship.

Capture ethnicity data and publicise progress 
Capturing ethnicity data is important for establishing 
a baseline and measuring progress. It is a crucial step 
towards an organisation reporting on ethnicity pay 
differentials.

Commit at board level to zero tolerance of 
harassment and bullying 
The Race at Work Survey revealed that 25 per cent 
of ethnic minority employees reported that they had 
witnessed or experienced racial harassment or bullying 
from managers. Commitment from the top is needed to 
achieve change.

Make clear that supporting equality in the 
workplace is the responsibility of all leaders and 
managers 
Actions can include ensuring that performance 
objectives for leaders and managers cover their 
responsibilities to support fairness for all staff.

Take action that supports ethnic minority career 
progression 
Actions can include embedding mentoring, reverse 
mentoring and sponsorship in their organisations.

Sign up to the Race of Work Charter here:  
https://www.bitc.org.uk/race/

1

1

2

2

3
3

4

4

5

5

6

7

PUBLIC HEALTH ENGLAND RECOMMENDATIONS THE RACE AT WORK CHARTER,  
FIVE CALLS TO ACTION TO ENSURE 
THAT ETHNIC MINORITY EMPLOYEES 
ARE REPRESENTED AT ALL LEVELS IN AN 
ORGANISATION.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

APPENDIX B/C

30

P
age 44



APPENDIX D
PROGRESS UPDATE FROM THE 2018/19 ANNUAL REPORT

In my 2018/19 annual report, I set out seven 
recommendations that would help partners 
across the system to drive inclusive growth 
to tackle health inequalities and increase 
productivity. 

Inevitably, the COVID-19 pandemic has 
had a significant impact on the capacity 
of local organisations to respond to these 
recommendations since the publication of the 
report in late 2019. 

However, progress has been made in a 
number of areas – as set out below – and 
the recommended actions are arguably even 
more important as Gloucestershire embarks 
on its social, health and economic recovery 
from COVID-19. Indeed, there is a clear 
thread between the recommendations of my 
report last year and those I make in  
this report.

PROGRESS AND ACHIEVEMENTS

• There is now greater alignment of health 
and economic strategy and policy in the 
county: GFirst LEP’s Chief Executive 
has joined the Gloucestershire Health 
and Wellbeing Board and the inclusive 
growth theme has been incorporated 
into the Local Industrial Strategy for 
Gloucestershire. 

• The 2018/19 report was presented to 
a range of groups, including the GFirst 
LEP Board, the Education and Skills 
Board and the Economic Growth Joint 
Committee, providing a new audience 
for and engagement in key public 
health messages and opportunities for 
collaboration.

• In January 2020, the Health and 
Wellbeing Board agreed to further 
explore their role as ‘anchor institutions’ 
in driving inclusive growth through their 
employment and spending power.  
The Board has revisited this opportunity 
in the light of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and its impact on health inequalities and 
a small task and finish group is identifying 
potential actions, including maximising 
social value from procurement and 
increasing inclusive employment and 
career development opportunities.

• GFirst LEP has also recognised the 
potential for anchor institutions to play a 
role in the county’s economic recovery 
from COVID-19, incorporating the 
approach in its proposed interventions 
that will enable Gloucestershire to 
reimagine and restart.

• The Public Health team has established 
a ‘Planning Healthy Places’ community 
of practice to support planners and 
others working in the built and natural 
environment to maximise opportunities 
to build healthy communities with the 
infrastructure to support inclusive growth. 
As well as supporting developing local 
plans and other policies, the team has 
developed a Health Impact Assessment 
tool, which it has tested with Stroud 
District Council and intends to roll out 
across the county in due course.

• Healthy Lifestyles Gloucestershire 
has launched Healthy Workplaces 
Gloucestershire, a range of dedicated 
resources to support local employers 
and a workplace accreditation scheme. 
Healthy workplaces are just one aspect 
of ‘good work’ as set out in last year’s 
report and this development provides a 
solid foundation for employers to build 
on, including to improve the flexibility of 
the workplace in line with the ambitions 
of the Local Industrial Strategy. This 
year’s lockdown restrictions are already 
changing the way people think about 
where and how they work and there are 
both opportunities and challenges in this 
for inclusive growth.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020

APPENDIX D

31

P
age 45



REFERENCES

Anekwe, L. (2020) Ethnic disparities in maternal care. The British Medical Journal. 
https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m442 

Cabinet Office (2018) Race Disparity Audit 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/686071/Revised_RDA_report_March_2018.pdf 

Cook, T. et al. (2020) Exclusive: deaths of NHS staff from COVID-19 analysed 
https://www.hsj.co.uk/exclusive-deaths-of-nhs-staff-from-COVID-19-analysed/7027471.article

Dahlgren, G. and Whitehead, M. (1993) Tackling inequalities in health: what can we learn from 
what has been tried? Reproduced by the King’s Fund:  
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-broader-determinants-health

DHSOC (2018) Modernising the Mental Health Act 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/778897/Modernising_the_Mental_Health_Act_-_increasing_choice__reducing_compulsion.pdf 

Equality and human Rights Commission (2014) Meeting the Equality Duty in Policy and 
Decision-Making 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/meeting-equality-duty-policy-
and-decision-making-england-and-non-devolved

Friends of the Earth (2020) England’s Green Space Gap 
https://policy.friendsoftheearth.uk/download/englands-green-space-gap-full-report 

Gloucestershire Constabulary (2015) Equality Duty 
https://www.gloucestershire.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/media/downloads/force-content/
gloucestershire/about-us/201415-equality-document-v2.pdf

Gloucestershire County Council (2020) Population Profile 
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2097102/equality-profile-2020-final.pdf

Gloucestershire County Council (2020) Workforce equality and diversity report  
(February 2020) 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2099440/gcc-workforce-equalities-report-2020docx.pdf

GHNHSFT (2019) Equality Report 2018/19 
https://www.gloshospitals.nhs.uk/media/documents/Equality_Report_2018-19_v5.pdf

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 32

REFERENCES

P
age 46



REFERENCES

Health Foundation (2020) Will COVID-19 be a watershed moment for health inequalities? 
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/will-COVID-19-be-a-watershed-
moment-for-health-inequalities 

Marmot, M. et al (2010) Fair Society, Healthy Lives.  
www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-themarmot-
review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf 

NFER (2020) Schools’ responses to Covid-19. The challenges facing schools and 
pupils in September 2020 
https://www.nfer.ac.uk/schools-responses-to-covid-19-the-challenges-facing-schools-
and-pupils-in-september-2020/

NHS (2020) NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/wres-2019-data-report.pdf 

NHS Confederation (2020) The impact of COVID-19 on BME communities and health 
and care staff 
https://www.nhsconfed.org/-/media/Confederation/Files/Publications/Documents/
BRIEFING_Impact-of-COVID-19-BME_communities-and-staff_FNL.pdf

NHS England (2020) Third phase of NHS response to COVID-19 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/wp-content/uploads/sites/52/2020/07/20200731-
Phase-3-letter-final-1.pdf

NICE (2017) Black, Asian and other minority ethnic groups: promoting health and 
preventing premature mortality 
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs167/documents/briefing-paper

ONS (2020) Deaths involving COVID-19, England and Wales: deaths occurring in June 
2020 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/
deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingCOVID19englandandwales/deathsoccurringinjune2020

ONS (2020) Which occupations have the highest potential exposure to the coronavirus 
(COVID-19)? 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/
employmentandemployeetypes/articles/whichoccupationshavethehighestpotentialexposur
etothecoronavirusCOVID19/2020-05-11?hootPostID=2d50118712f89284665a982f9600e276

PHE (2020) Beyond the data: Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_
data.pdf

PHE (2020) Disparities in the risk and outcomes of COVID-19 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/908434/Disparities_in_the_risk_and_outcomes_of_COVID_
August_2020_update.pdf

PHE (2020) Excess Weight and COVID-19 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/907966/PHE_insight_Excess_weight_and_COVID-19__FINAL.pdf 

PHE (2020) Health Inequalities Dashboard, Gloucestershire 
https://analytics.phe.gov.uk/apps/health-inequalities-dashboard/

PHE fingertips (2020) Public Health Outcomes Framework 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/1/
gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E10000013/cid/4 

Race Equality Foundation (2020) Black and minority ethnic voluntary sector organisation 
are coping and adapting to the coronavirus pandemic for now, but their future is unsure 
https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/health-care/black-and-minority-ethnic-voluntary-
sector-organisation-are-coping-and-adapting-to-the-coronavirus-pandemic-for-now-but-
their-future-is-unsure/ 

Runnymede Trust (2020) Over-Exposed and Under-Protected: The Devastating Impact 
of COVID-19 on Black and Minority Ethnic Communities in Great Britain 
https://www.runnymedetrust.org/uploads/Runnymede%20COVID19%20Survey%20
report%20v3.pdf

Salford CVS (2020) Risk assessments resources and guidance 
https://www.salfordcvs.co.uk/risk-assessments-resources-and-guidance 

The Colour of Power Index (2020) 
https://thecolourofpower.com/ 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2020 33

REFERENCES

P
age 47



Report of the Director of Public Health 2020

G
C

C
_2

96
7 

 1
0.

20
P

age 48



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Health Inequalities in Gloucestershire – COVID-19 and 
Beyond

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information and decision

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health and Adult Social Care
Author Sue Weaver, Head of Commissioning (Health Improvement)

Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health 
Organisation Gloucestershire County Council 
Key Issues:  
COVID-19 has exposed the deep inequalities in health and life chances that 
exist between different population groups and areas of the country. In July 
2020 the Board committed to a number of projects to better understand and 
take action to mitigate these impacts, with an initial focus on Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities.

Meanwhile, the Board has signed off the Gloucestershire Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (2019-2030), which commits to embedding action on 
health inequalities across each of its seven priorities.

The purpose of this paper is to take stock of where we are in tackling health 
inequalities in Gloucestershire; to update the Board on progress against key 
areas of work; and to identify potential gaps and propose a way forward.  

The paper will conclude that, while some work-streams have been unable to 
progress as planned during the COVID-19 pandemic, there are many 
examples of good practice being taken forward.  The paper also highlights the 
opportunity and necessity to bring these strands together into a more coherent 
approach and makes recommendations on how this could be moved forward. 

Recommendations to Board: 

The Board is invited to:
1. Consider the developing programme of work on health inequalities, 

including opportunities and recommendations to strengthen this work  
2. Support the recommendation to convene a Health Inequalities Panel to 

steer this agenda, supported by the Contain Outbreak Management Fund 
(COMF) health inequalities posts

3. Comment on the draft principles for an anchor institutions approach in 
Gloucestershire.

Financial/Resource Implications: 
None identified 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



Health Inequalities in Gloucestershire – COVID-19 and Beyond

1. Introduction 

1.1 This paper provides a follow up to the paper entitled ‘COVID-19 reset: Focusing 
on inequalities and the role of anchor institutions’, which was presented to the Board 
in July 2020. It will update the Board on the developing programme of work on health 
inequalities in Gloucestershire, including the anchor institutions project, to inform a 
discussion on:

a) The wider strategic context and approach for understanding and addressing 
health inequalities in Gloucestershire

b) To agree next steps for taking this agenda forward.

2. Health inequalities  

2.1 The background information on health inequalities was presented to the Board in 
July 2020 so will not be repeated in here detail. However, it is worth a reminder that, 
immediately before the COVID-19 pandemic, ‘The Marmot Review 10 Years On’ 
reported that health was in decline and inequalities were widening1. The review 
welcomes efforts made by local authorities and communities to tackle the social 
determinants of health but emphasises the need for more effective action to tackle 
these drivers and to further embed proportionate universalism (universal policies with 
effort proportionate to need) across our business. 

2.2 Shortly after the publication of this report the COVID-19 pandemic both 
highlighted and exacerbated the health inequalities that already existed in our 
society.  We outlined in July the differential impacts of the virus itself on different 
population groups. In addition, the long-term impacts of COVID-19 control measures 
on education, employment and the economy are also likely to be felt 
disproportionately by different groups in society, both now and over years to come. 
Other likely impacts include social isolation, mental health issues (anxiety and 
depression), increased alcohol consumption, obesity and domestic abuse.

2.3 The Board has already acknowledged the imperative to take steps to mitigate 
impacts and the opportunity to ‘build back differently’. Section 3 below provides an 
update on key areas of activity.

1 Institute of Health Equity  http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/marmot-review-10-
years-on/the-marmot-review-10-years-on-executive-summary.pdf 

Page 50

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/marmot-review-10-years-on/the-marmot-review-10-years-on-executive-summary.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/marmot-review-10-years-on/the-marmot-review-10-years-on-executive-summary.pdf


Health Inequalities in Gloucestershire

2.4 The PHE Health Inequalities Dashboard provides information to monitor progress 
on reducing health inequalities through 19 key indicators. It measures trends in each 
indicator since a baseline period, with longer term data provided where available. A 
snapshot of the current position in Gloucestershire, compared to baseline data from 
up to ten years ago, is given in Appendix 1. 

2.5 The picture in Gloucestershire is one of ‘no significant change or modest 
improvement’ across the majority of indicators. The notable exception is for obesity 
and severe obesity among reception-age children, with the 2019-20 data suggesting 
significantly greater prevalence compared to 2015-16. However, this data must be 
interpreted with caution because the number of children participating in the 
programme in 2019-20 was below levels required for a robust sample (owing to 
school closures due to COVID-19).

2.6 Further analysis of the available data across these indicators is recommended 
including:

 Inclusion of 2020-21 data when this becomes available to start to understand 
the impact of COVID-19 across these indicators

 Benchmarking against comparator areas.

2.7 Meanwhile, a rapid health needs assessment has been undertaken to summarise 
the immediate impact of COVID-19 on health and health inequalities and to start to 
understand the wider and potential longer-term impacts. A summary of this work will 
be included in the Health Inequalities Toolkit outlined in section 3 below. 

3. Update on key areas of work aiming to address health inequalities

3.1 This section provides an update of key work-streams of particular relevance to 
the Board. It does not intend to cover all of the good work that is going on to address 
health inequalities in Gloucestershire.    

System-level change – working in partnership 

3.2 The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2019-2030) is the key strategic driver 
for the work on health inequalities in Gloucestershire.  Alongside this the NHS Long 
Term Plan (LTP) provides the overarching framework for the work of the Integrated 
Care System (ICS) on prevention and health inequalities. Both Health and Wellbeing 
and ICS Boards have committed to embedding action on health inequalities across 
their strategic priorities.

3.3 The relationships between health inequalities and the Health and Wellbeing 
strategic priorities in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic are complex. This point is 
illustrated using the healthy weight priority:

Page 51



 Healthy Weight – prior to the pandemic children living in the most deprived 
neigbourhoods were already twice as likely to be affected by obesity as those 
living in the least deprived areas. We would expect children from families 
facing the greatest challenges prior to the pandemic to be disproportionately 
affected by the social and economic impacts of lockdown including: loss of 
income, school closure, reduced opportunities for exercise (e.g. the Daily 
Mile), impact on mental health and wellbeing, social isolation and so on. We 
do not yet have the evidence to support or challenge this hypothesis but early 
data from adults affected by severe obesity suggest disparities; around third 
report significant weight gain over the last year and a third have been able to 
lose weight.

3.4 Recognising that poor outcomes in health result from a complex interaction and 
accumulation of factors over time, the longer-term impacts will need to be worked 
through, for each GHWB and LTP priority, during the COVID-19 recovery period and 
beyond. 

3.5 While some work under the GHWB strategic priorities has been progressed 
during the pandemic, the principal focus over the last year has been on the 
immediate needs of vulnerable groups e.g. through the work of community resilience 
and mental heath cells. Unfortunately, much of the longer-term planning and 
development work has been paused but will be resumed during recovery.  

Health Inequalities Toolkit 
3.5 A key enabler for this work is the Gloucestershire Health Inequalities Toolkit. This 
resource aims to support a more structured and evidence-based approach to 
understanding and taking action against the underlying causes of health inequality at 
population-level; enabling services, organisations and partnerships to break down 
their high-level ambitions into specific objectives and preventive actions.  

3.6 The Toolkit will include both enabling and directive elements. It distils a number 
of key tools from the overwhelming range available into a practical guide to help local 
bodies understand where there is inequality and then identify key actions they can 
take to address this. A number of these tools will be tested locally over forthcoming 
weeks with support from the public health team and will then be refined and 
simplified so that they are more accessible for others to use independently (See 
Table 1). 

Page 52



Table 1: Health Inequalities Tools and Case Studies
Tool Purpose of the Tool Case Study (Lead Orgs)
Health Equity Audit 
(HEA)

To identify how fairly resources are 
distributed across different groups

Healthy Lifestyles Service (HLS)
(Public Health  with HLS 
provider)

Health Equity 
Assessment (HEAT) 
Tool

A lighter weight alternative to the HEA 
tool, which also helps to identify mitigating 
actions 

Carers offer
(GCC commissioners with carers 
providers)

Health Impact 
Assessment

Used prospectively to predict health 
consequences for different groups of a 
proposed change

Planning and health 
(Public Health with County and 
District Council planners)

Social Return on 
Investment (SROI)

Identifies and attempts to put a value on 
the wider benefits of an intervention or 
programme

No Child Left Behind Programme 
(Pubic Heath with Cheltenham 
Borough Council)

Intervention 
Effectiveness / 
Decay Model

Systematically uses data to assess the 
effectiveness of a patient pathway for 
different groups of the population

Respiratory CPG (COPD) and 
cancer
(CCG with Public Health)

Place-based tool A joined-up approach that considers the 
‘place’, not just individual issues, in 
recognition of the multiple causes of 
health inequalities

Gloucester City (specifics tbc) 
(CCG / Integrated Locality 
Partnership with Public Health)

3.7 The more directive elements of the Toolkit will include specific evidence –based 
recommendations or ‘calls to action’ for different sectors and ‘levels’ within the 
system; outlining what role they can play in contributing to reducing health 
inequalities across the priorities of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and NHS Long Term Plan; and across other evidence-based interventions 
within Public Health England’s ‘menu of interventions’ for tackling health inequalities. 

3.8 A first draft of the Toolkit will be available in pdf format at the end of March. This 
will continue to be developed and refined as the case studies are implemented over 
forthcoming weeks and months. Future iterations of the Toolkit will include 
straightforward explanations and practical examples of other tools and approaches 
including: Population Health Management (PHM); Heath Equity in All Policies; and 
community engagement and development approaches.  

Vaccine Equity 
3.9 Our principal area of focus on health inequalities since January has been the 
COVID-19 Vaccinations Equity Programme. This work is being progressed by a 
multiagency group, chaired by Paul Roberts (Chief Executive of Gloucestershire 
Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust). The purpose is to support equitable uptake 
of COVID-19 vaccinations across the population of Gloucestershire; both critical for 
helping to mitigate against COVID-19 related health inequalities and protecting the 
wider community from the virus. 

3.10 To date the Group has reviewed the evidence on COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy, 
and what works in encouraging and enabling vaccine uptake, and is working to an 
action plan under the key themes of ‘Confidence, Convenience and Complacency’. 
This evidence is being supplemented with local data on vaccine uptake across 

Page 53



different population groups, local insight research and learning from engagement 
activities. A range are activities are underway, or being scoped, including action to 
support reasonable adjustments to address barriers to access; targeted 
communications and engagement events and ‘pop-up clinics’ and roving vaccination 
approached.  Initial priority groups include BAME communities, people who are 
homeless, people with a learning disability, asylum seekers and the wider health and 
care workforce. A ‘test and learn’ approach will ensure the programme adapts 
effectively within the Gloucestershire Mass Vaccination Programme timelines. 

Place-based action on health inequalities 
3.11 The ICS Board has appointed Paul Roberts, Chief Executive of Gloucestershire 
Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust to lead on the work to embed action on 
health inequalities across the NHS Long Term plan and during recovery. The key 
themes under this plan are ‘engagement’, ‘interventions’ and ‘workforce’. The work 
under the ICS plan includes developing a ‘place-based approach’ to better 
understand and address health inequalities in Gloucester City. This work being led by 
the Clinical Commissioning Group with a multiagency sponsoring group the first 
scoping and the first meeting of the for this plan was held in February. 

Organisation-level change

Anchor Institutions
3.12 The Board pledged to adopt an ‘anchor institution’ (AI) approach as a key part of 
its plan to address health inequalities, initially focusing on tackling health inequalities 
post-COVID-19 among BAME communities.  The AI approach capitalises on the 
significant leverage of organisations such as local authorities, the NHS and 
educational institutions as employers, purchasers, land and asset owners and 
community leaders.

Initial steps were to:
 Develop a set of principles to support a shared understanding among anchor 

institutions of what anchor institutions in Gloucestershire are, and what could 
be done to support the local economy

 Collate a baseline of current anchor institution activity in the county
 Develop an agreed way forward for building on this.  

3.13 Draft principles for anchor institutions in Gloucestershire, which have been 
developed in consultation with representatives from the relevant organisations are 
given in Appendix 2. 

3.14 It has not been possible to progress the other objectives as far as intended due 
to the ongoing focus on COVID-19 response during the second wave.  However, the 
mapping is underway and it is clear that there are many excellent examples of 
anchor institution activity already happening in Gloucestershire, though they are not 
usually badged as such.  There is considerable enthusiasm for this approach from 

Page 54



NHS and other local organisations and examples identified so far include policies and 
initiatives around employment and training, inclusive economic growth, social value 
and leadership.  

3.15 We are also working with Cheltenham Borough Council on a project to evaluate 
part of the No Child Left Behind programme. We are adapting the ‘long version’ of 
the Social Return on Investment (SROI) tool to develop a more pragmatic approach 
to support organisations to identify the social value delivered through their activities 
as they develop their role as anchor institutions. This activity should be completed in 
April. 

3.16 Next steps are to complete the mapping exercise and reconvene the Task and 
Finish group to develop an agreed way forward for building on this work. 

Community-led Change

3.17 There is a wealth of community-led and community-level action on health 
inequalities in Gloucestershire and this section does not attempt to do justice to this 
work. Key initiatives include the Healthy Communities Together (Kings Fund) 
programme (which is being presented as a separate agenda item), and the work 
started last year following evidence of the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on 
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups.

Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups
3.18 In May 2020 a BAME Task and Finish group was established to respond to 
emerging evidence of impact of COVID-19 on people from BAME backgrounds and 
later to take forward the recommendations in the 2020 Director of Public Health 
Annual Report. 

3.19 With membership across organisations and communities, the group set out to:
 Tackle, reduce and prevent the further impact of COVID-19 on BAME 

communities in Gloucestershire
 Connect and collaborate with BAME communities, groups and partner 

organisations
 Gather an understanding of the views, issues, experiences, concerns and 

needs of the impact of COVID-19 on local BAME communities 

3.19 An initial intelligence gathering exercise identified:
 Barriers to understanding and adhering to the available guidance 
 Widespread COVID-19 related rumours and misinformation 
 Mistrust of public sector services including hesitancy around uptake of COVID-

19 vaccines 

Page 55



3.20 The group has progressed or developed the following: 
 An ‘Information and resources for BAME Communities’ webpage on the GCC 

website, which includes clear, consistent information about COVID-19 and 
support available, including translated versions

 Building relationships with Gloucestershire’s BAME communities
 A Community Champions network in Gloucester City (with a focus on Barton and 

Tredworth), who are disseminating accurate information within their communities
 Co-production of the Barton and Tredworth COVID-19 Prevention Plan, with 

Gloucester City Council 
 An understanding of how organisations are undertaking culturally responsive 

COVID-19 risk assessments for staff from BAME backgrounds 
 A range of engagement activities to better understand the potential barriers to the 

uptake of the COVID-19 vaccination and to design communications and other 
activities to help address these barriers. 

3.21 The group has identified the following challenges and opportunities:
 Gaps in the BAME voluntary and community sector (VCS) and the need to build 

capacity in the sector      
 The need for health promotion and disease prevention programmes addressing 

prevalent risk factors (diabetes, hypertension, obesity, physical activity) better 
tailored to the needs of BAME communities 

 Ensure COVID-19 recovery plans actively reduce inequalities caused by the 
wider determinants of health to create sustainable change for BAME 
communities.

4. Joining it up

4.1 The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy are the preeminent frameworks for understanding and addressing 
local health inequalities in the county.  However, inclusion, equity and equality are 
themes across a plethora of other local strategies and plans, all of which emphasise 
the importance of taking a partnership approach that recognises and builds on local 
strengths and works alongside communities.  

4.2 This picture is inevitably messy, as it is for all so-called ‘wicked issues’. However, 
within this ‘messiness’ having a coherent narrative and approach to delivering on 
these commitments is essential to ensure that we are joined-up and effective. The 
Public Health England (PHE) guidance on place-based approaches for reducing 
health inequalities includes a checklist, which has informed the recommendations 
below. 

4.3 We propose that the Board convenes a small stakeholder ‘Panel’ to steer this 
agenda, and to provide oversight, challenge and support to key cross-cutting work-
streams. It is proposed that the Panel reports directly to the Board and utilises the 

Page 56

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/covid-19-information-and-advice/information-and-resources-for-bame-communities/


Enabling Active Communities-Individuals (EAC-I) Board as a stakeholder reference 
group. 

The responsibilities of the Health Inequalities Panel would include:  
 Developing a clear narrative to describe our approach for understanding and 

addressing health inequalities 
 Working out how we will meaningfully involve communities in shaping, delivering 

and evaluating this work
 System oversight to understand the balance of work across the wider 

determinants of health and other areas and identify key gaps and opportunities 
 Oversight of the developing anchor institutions approach and Health Inequalities 

Toolkit
 Supporting future development of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), 

ensuring that community assets are given the same prominence to needs and are 
routinely considered as part of planning

 Further development of the rapid COVID-19 health needs assessment to better 
understand the longer-term impacts and opportunities arising from COVID-19 

 Clarification of the relationship between the GHWB and ICS in relation to 
addressing health inequalities

 Establish a shared health inequalities dashboard (building on the PHE dashboard) 
and an approach for monitoring, review and reflection (‘plan, do, study, act’) 

 Develop a plan for evaluation and sharing the learning
 Identify opportunities for increasing awareness across the system of how action on 

health inequalities is fundamental to other priorities and for embedding across all 
our business 

 Feed into workforce development plans relevant to health inequalities including 
embedding cultural competency training.

4.5 Some dedicated capacity is needed for this work to move forward at the pace 
required to embed the lessons from the pandemic during the recovery period and 
beyond. Funding has been allocated from the COVID-19 Contain Outbreak 
Management Fund (COMF) for two fixed term (two year) posts (a Programme 
Manager and Facilitator), working to the Director of Public Health. 

5. Recommendations to the Health and Wellbeing Board

1. To note the developing programme of work on health inequalities, including 
opportunities and recommendations to strengthen this work  

2. To support the recommendation to convene a Health Inequalities Panel to 
steer this agenda, supported by the COMF health inequalities posts

3. To comment on the draft principles for an anchor institutions approach in 
Gloucestershire.

  

Page 57



Appendix 1: Health Inequalities Dashboard for Gloucestershire 

 significantly better  no significant change  significantly worse no significance calculated / not available

Table 2: Trends in Indicators of Health Inequality in Gloucestershire (Extract from Public Health England’s Health Inequalities Dashboard 06/03/2021) 
Domain Indicator Group Measure Baseline 

period
Baseline 
value

Reporting 
period

Reporting 
value

Absolute 
change

Trend

Value 2011-13 79.8 2017-19 80.6 0.8 Life expectancy at birth (males)
LSOA 
deprivation 
deciles

Slope index of 
inequality

2011-13 7.6 2017-19 7.6 0.0 

Value 2011-13 83.7 2017-19 84.0 0.3 Life expectancy at birth (females)
LSOA 
deprivation 
deciles

Slope index of 
inequality

2011-13 6.1 2017-19 5.4 -0.7 

Healthy life expectancy at birth (males) Value 2011-13 63.3 2016-18 68.1 4.8 

Overarching 
indicators 

Healthy life expectancy at birth 
(females)

2011-13 66.2 2016-18 67.2 1.0 

Children in absolute low income 
families (under 16s)

Value 2014-15 13.7 2018-19 10.4 -3.3 

Children in relative low income families 
(under 16s)

Value 2014-15 13.9 2018-19 12.7 -1.2 

Value 2012-13 48.0 2018-19 28.1 -19.9 

FSM status Relative gap 2012-13 1.5 2018-19 1.8 0.3 

School readiness: % of children not 
achieving a good level of development 

FSM status Relative gap 2012-13 20.7 2018-19 21.5 0.8 

16-17 year olds not in education, 
employment of training (NEET) or 
whose activity is not known

Value 2016 7.4 2019 3.5 -3.9 

Wider 
determinants

Gap in the employment rate between 
those with a long term health condition 
(LTC) and the overall employment rate

LTC and 
overall 
employment

Absolute gap 2013-14 9.8 2019-20 10.4 0.6 

P
age 58



Low birthweight of term babies Value 2011 2.4 2018 1.9 -0.5 

Reception: prevalence of obesity 
including severe obesity 

Value 2015-16 8.7 2019-20 10.3 1.6 

Year 6: prevalence of obesity including 
severe obesity

Value 2015-16 17.7 2019-20 19.3 1.6 

Value 2013 18.1 2019 13.0 -5.1 Smoking prevalence in adults (18+) – 
current smokers Routine and 

manual 
occupations vs 
other 
occupations

Odds ratio: 
socioeconomic 
gap

2013 2.8 2019 3.6 0.8 

Admission episodes for alcohol-related 
conditions

Value 2012-13 655.0 2018-18 673.8 18.8 

Health 
improvement 

Self-reported wellbeing – people with a 
low satisfaction score 

Value 2013-14 5.0 2014-15 5.1 0.1 

Health 
protection

TB incidence (three year average) Value 2011-13 5.9 2017-19 3.5 -2.4 

Infant mortality rate Value 2011-13 3.4 2017-19 3.1 -0.3 

% 5 year olds with experience of 
visually obvious dental decay

Value 2011-12 28.0 2018-19 19.5 -8.5 

Under 75 mortality rate from all 
cardiovascular diseases

Value 2011-13 66.9 2017-19 59.8 -7.1 

Under 75 mortality rate from cancer Value 2011-13 130.9 2017-19 118.1 -12.8

Healthcare 
and 
premature 
mortality

Suicide rate Value 2011-13 12.9 2017-19 10.2 -2.7 

P
age 59



Appendix 2: Anchor Institutions in Gloucestershire – draft principles

Anchor Institutions Principles 
Anchor Institutions are organisations that play a significant and recognised role in a 
locality by making a strategic contribution to the local economy. The anchor 
institutions approach capitalises on the significant leverage of organisations such as 
Local Authorities, the NHS and educational institutions as employers, purchasers, 
holders of physical assets and community leaders. By acting as anchor institutions 
Health and Wellbeing Board member organisations can play a key role in tackling 
health inequalities post COVID-19
.
Being an anchor institution means that we will work to:

1) Commit to target voluntary, training and employment opportunities for local 
residents, especially in underrepresented and disadvantaged communities.

         Work experience placements, apprenticeships and internships to build the skills 
of those furthest from the jobs market.

2) Support staff development and career progression, targeted at groups who are 
underrepresented in senior positions.

        Mentoring and coaching schemes that are coproduced by groups who are 
underrepresented in senior positions.

3) Maximise the social, economic and environmental benefits to the local 
community by being a fair and ethical partner.  

        Work with diverse local providers and suppliers where possible, to support the 
overall sustainability agenda and create a Greener Gloucestershire. 

4) Consider the implications for social value in all relevant decision-making 
processes.

         Ensure there is an aligned social value policy within the organisation, and that it 
is given significant consideration in procurement exercises.

5) Adhere to the highest ethical standards in our operations and supply chains. 

         Ensure systems and procedures are transparent and promote best practice so 
that employees, local people and local environment are protected.

6) Support local community action and mutual aid groups by being an active 
community partner, focusing in areas with greater need.

Page 60



        Work collaboratively with local third sector organisations and share resources 
and expertise to encourage local groups to access available opportunities. 

7) Consult with local community groups to co-produce policy solutions.

         Establish and maintain positive relationships with community groups and faith 
leaders, and involve them in decision making processes.

8) Protect the local environment, and minimise negative impacts on places and 
spaces. 

         Ensure that environmental consideration is evident in each stage of the supply 
chain and decision-making process, to maintain quality and access to green 
spaces.

9) Promote healthy lifestyles and support the health and wellbeing of the 
community. 

         Prioritise the health and wellbeing of staff and encourage healthy lifestyle 
choices in all work. 

10) Act as a positive example of ethical and effective leadership to encourage 
innovation and action across the community. 

         Encourage leaders to play an active role in the locality, demonstrating best 
practice in an accessible and visible manner. 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



@One_Glos 

 

 

Gloucestershire Enabling 
Active Communities 

Partnership:  
Healthy Communities 

Together 

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 10



@One_Glos 

Enabling Active Communities Partnership 

• Brings together a unique collaboration of system 
partners across Gloucestershire, with the aim of creating 
connected, empowered and resilient communities 
• ICS and statutory partners 
• VCSE partners 
• District and local partners 

• In existence since 2015 
• Aims to improve health and wellbeing through 

mobilising assets within communities, promoting equity 
and increasing people’s control over their health and 
lives 

P
age 64



@One_Glos 

Healthy communities together 

• Aims to support genuine partnership-working in local areas between the voluntary and 
community sector, the NHS and local authorities to improve the health and wellbeing of 
local communities 

• National offer of up to £3 million of grant funding and £850,000 of leadership 
development support to place-based partnerships 

• 275 applications, reduced down to 40, then 10.  Gloucestershire EAC Partnership was one 
of six successful systems along with: 

– Coventry: Grapevine and partners 

– Croydon: One Croydon Alliance 

– Leeds: Solidarity Network and partners 

– Newham: Well Newham partnership 

– Plymouth: Plymouth Octopus Project and partners 

• Two part programme: 

– Part 1: £50k March – October 2021 to develop the partnership and programme plan 

– Part 2: £450k funding, learning and development support for up to 3 years 

P
age 65



@One_Glos 

What do we hope to achieve? 

• Whole system change in the way we work together to 
tackle inequalities in health and their underlying causes 

• Sustainable, transformative change in the way we work 
in partnership between statutory,  VCSE and 
communities across the whole county 

• Focussed  on: 
• Widening the discussion and deepening the 

understanding 
• Developing our approach and theories 
• Developing action and delivering 
• Understanding impact and sharing the learning 

P
age 66



@One_Glos 

Phase 1: Partners and Progress 

• The initial bid-writing team consisted of: 
– Public Health (Zoe Clifford & Di Billingham) 
– District Council (Anne Brinkhoff) 
– Active Gloucestershire (Tom Beasley) 
– Create Gloucestershire (Pippa Jones) 
– VCS Alliance (Matt Lennard) 
– Barnwood Trust (Sally Byng) 
– CCG (Will Chapman & Jo Underwood) 

• The Barnwood Trust have agreed to act as the fundholding organisation on 
behalf of the partners 

• A Partnership Agreement has been drawn up 
• Work has started with our Kings Fund Partner to scope and design the first 

phase 
• As set out in our bid, this is likely to consist of systems mapping, and wider 

engagement with the system to agree specific focus areas for Phase 2 

P
age 67



@One_Glos 

Summary of the Aims/Outputs 

Primary focus for Phase 1 

P
age 68


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 White Paper: Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care for all
	7 Director of Public Health Annual Report: Beyond COVID - Race Health and Inequality in Gloucestershire
	8 Health Inequalities in Gloucestershire - COVID-19 and Beyond
	10 Kings Fund Healthier Communities

